Planning Committee
Meeting: Tuesday, 3rd September 2019 at 6.00 pm in Civic Suite - North
Warehouse, The Docks, Gloucester, GL1 2EP
Membership:
Contact:

Cllrs. Taylor (Chair), Lewis (Vice-Chair), D. Brown, J. Brown, Dee,
Derbyshire, Finnegan, Hanman, Hansdot, Hawthorne, Lugg, Toleman
and Walford
Democratic and Electoral Services
01452 396126
democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk

AGENDA
1.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive from Members, declarations of the existence of any disclosable pecuniary, or nonpecuniary, interests and the nature of those interests in relation to any agenda item. Please
see Agenda Notes.

3.

MINUTES (Pages 7 - 10)
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 6th of August 2019.

4.

LATE MATERIAL
Please note that any late material in respect of the applications detailed below will be
published as a supplement on the Council’s website in the late afternoon of the day of the
meeting.

5.

FORMER NEXT SITE QUEDGELEY DISTRICT CENTRE OLYMPUS PARK 19/00537/FUL (Pages 11 - 20)
Application for determination:Change of Use of Retail Unit (Class A1) to Gym/Health and Fitness Centre (Class D2) at the
former Next site in the Quedgeley District Centre Olympus Park.

6.

PLOT J KINGSWAY GATE NEWHAVEN ROAD, QUEDGELEY GLOUCESTER 19/00058/FUL (Pages 21 - 66)
Application for determination:-

1

Proposed development of a Class A1 (retail) food store along with associated, access,
parking, landscaping, engineering and ancillary works.

7.

DELEGATED DECISIONS (Pages 67 - 78)
To consider a schedule of applications determined under delegated powers during the month
of July 2019.

8.

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
1st of October 2019.

Jon McGinty
Managing Director
Date of Publication: Monday, 26 August 2019

2

NOTES
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate in respect of any matter in which a member
has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.
Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary
Interests) Regulations 2012 as follows –
Interest

Prescribed description

Employment, office, trade,
profession or vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for
profit or gain.

Sponsorship

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than
from the Council) made or provided within the previous 12 months
(up to and including the date of notification of the interest) in
respect of any expenses incurred by you carrying out duties as a
member, or towards your election expenses. This includes any
payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts

Any contract which is made between you, your spouse or civil
partner or person with whom you are living as a spouse or civil
partner (or a body in which you or they have a beneficial interest)
and the Council
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are
to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged

Land

Any beneficial interest in land which is within the Council’s area.
For this purpose “land” includes an easement, servitude, interest or
right in or over land which does not carry with it a right for you, your
spouse, civil partner or person with whom you are living as a
spouse or civil partner (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the
land or to receive income.

Licences

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the
Council’s area for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) –
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you, your spouse or civil partner
or a person you are living with as a spouse or civil partner has
a beneficial interest

Securities

Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where –
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land
in the Council’s area and
(b) either –
i. The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that
body; or
ii. If the share capital of that body is of more than one class,
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in
which you, your spouse or civil partner or person with

3

whom you are living as a spouse or civil partner has a
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total
issued share capital of that class.
For this purpose, “securities” means shares, debentures, debenture
stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme
within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000
and other securities of any description, other than money
deposited with a building society.

NOTE: the requirements in respect of the registration and disclosure of Disclosable
Pecuniary Interests and withdrawing from participating in respect of any matter
where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest apply to your interests and those
of your spouse or civil partner or person with whom you are living as a spouse or
civil partner where you are aware of their interest.
Access to Information
Agendas and reports can be viewed on the Gloucester City Council website:
www.gloucester.gov.uk and are available to view five working days prior to the meeting
date.
For enquiries about Gloucester City Council’s meetings please contact Democratic
Services, 01452 396126, democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk.
If you, or someone you know cannot understand English and need help with this information, or if
you would like a large print, Braille, or audio version of this information please call 01452 396396.
Recording of meetings
Please be aware that meetings may be recorded. There is no requirement for those
wishing to record proceedings to notify the Council in advance; however, as a courtesy,
anyone wishing to do so is advised to make the Chair aware before the meeting starts.
Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors,
Officers, the Public and Press is not obstructed. The use of flash photography and/or
additional lighting will not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in
advance of the meeting.
FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE
If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the
building by the nearest available exit. You will be directed to the nearest exit by council
staff. It is vital that you follow their instructions:
 You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts;
 Do not stop to collect personal belongings;
 Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building; gather at the
assembly point in the car park and await further instructions;
 Do not re-enter the building until told by a member of staff or the fire brigade that it is
safe to do so.

4

Copyright Notice for viewing documents via Public
Access
Planning application information submitted to the Council is protected by the Copyright Acts
(Section 47, 1988 Act). You may only use material which is downloaded and/or printed for
consultation purposes, to compare current applications with previous schemes and to check
whether developments have been completed in accordance with approved plans. Further
copies must not be made without the prior permission of the copyright owner. If you link to
Public Access you have acknowledged that you have read, understood and agree to the
copyright and other limitations.
Gloucester City Council reserve the right to remove or not display certain planning
application information for the confidentiality or other reasons.

HUMAN RIGHTS
In compiling the recommendations on the following reports we have given full consideration
to all aspects of the Human Rights Act 1998 in relation to the applicant and/or the occupiers
of any affected properties. In particular, regard has been had to Article 8 of the ECHR
(Right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence); Article 1 of the First
Protocol (Right to the use and enjoyment of property) and the requirement to ensure that
any interference with the right in this Article is both in accordance with the law and
proportionate. A balance needs to be drawn between the right to develop land in
accordance with planning permission and the rights under Article 8 and also Article 1 of the
First Protocol of adjacent occupiers. On assessing the issues raised by the applications no
particular matters, other than those referred to in the reports, warrant any different action to
that recommended.

EQUALITY ACT 2010
In considering this matter, full consideration has been given to the need to comply with the
Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010 and in particular to the obligation to
not only take steps to stop discrimination, but also to the promotion of equality, including the
promotion of equality of opportunity and the promotion of good relations. An equality
impact assessment has been carried out and it is considered that the Council has fully
complied with the legal requirements.

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE
MEETING

:

Tuesday, 6th August 2019

PRESENT

:

Cllrs. Lewis (Vice-Chair), D. Brown, J. Brown, Finnegan, Hanman,
Hansdot, Lugg, Toleman and Walford
Officers in Attendance
Paul Skelton, Technical Planning Manager
Mark Fisher, Planning Assistant
Nick Jonathan, Solicitor, One Legal
Anthony Wisdom, Democratic and Electoral Services Officer

APOLOGIES

1.

:

Cllrs. Taylor, Dee, Derbyshire and Hawthorne

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest on this occasion.

2.

MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 2nd July 2019 were confirmed and signed by
the vice-Chair as a correct record.

3.

LATE MATERIAL
Late material relating to agenda items 5 and 6 had been circulated.

4.

UNIT 5, 151 BRISTOL ROAD - 18/01338/COU
The Planning Officer presented the report which detailed a retrospective application
for change of use from Class B8 to Class A1 (Barber Shop) at Unit 5, 151, Bristol
Road.
He drew Members’ attention to the late material which contained a consultation
response from the Police who raised no objection to the application. Councillor
Stevens as a Ward Member addressed the Committee in opposition to the
application. He stated that there had been no problems with anti-social behavior in
Page
17

PLANNING COMMITTEE
06.08.19
Cecil Road prior to the opening of the barber’s shop and he outlined residents’
concerns including:







Large groups of young men gathering
Loud music from motor cars
Fast driving the wrong way around the one way system
Youths sitting on residents parked cars
Open drug activity
Smell of cannabis
Anti-social behavior

The Technical Planning Manager reminded Members that they were required to
determine the application on its planning merits and that anti-social behavior was a
matter for the police to deal with.
A Member called for information relating to any incidents in Cecil Road prior to the
opening of the barber shop.
Another Member noted that the barber shop’s website contained an alternative tariff
for out of hours and was advised that the opening hours would be controlled by
condition.
A Member questioned the supply of alcohol and was advised that it was not
uncommon for salons to offer clients refreshment including alcohol and the issue
had been referred to the Licensing Team.
The Vice-Chair reminded Members that the application had to be determined on
planning policies.
A Member was advised that it would not be reasonable to impose a condition to
require the removal of the pool table.
A Member repeated his request for information on any incidents in Cecil Road prior
to the opening of the barber’s shop. The Solicitor advised that would not make any
difference and the Committee should consider the use of the building.
Members agreed to strengthen Condition 2 to make it absolutely clear that there
should be no operations outside the hours permitted by that condition. The ViceChair moved and Councillor Lugg seconded that permission be granted subject to
the conditions in the report with a suitable addition to Condition 2.
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to the conditions in
the report and an appropriate addition to Condition 2.
5.

LIDL SUPERMARKET, EASTERN AVENUE - 19/00263/FUL
The Technical Planning Manager presented the report which detailed an application
to vary condition 20 of planning permission 16/00013/FUL for the demolition of
existing discount food store and construction of a replacement discount food store
with associated car parking, servicing and landscaping. The variation is to extend
the permitted hours for deliveries to allow the store to receive deliveries between
Page 28

PLANNING COMMITTEE
06.08.19
06.00 hours and 23.00 hours on any day of the week at Lidl Supermarket, Eastern
Avenue.
He advised Members that a temporary permission was proposed so residents could
notify the Council if problems were encountered. He referred to the late material
which comprised a letter from the agents requesting that the temporary permission
be amended to 12 months from the approval of the Noise Management Plan.
Mrs Prentice, an adjoining neighbor, addressed the Committee in opposition
to the application.
She stated that the current hours were already breached and referred to a recent
occasion when she was woken by a vehicle arriving at 5.25 am and had kept the
engine running for the refrigeration equipment. She believed that the proposed
hours would allow little respite for residents from noise and light pollution.
Rachael Brady-Hooper, for the applicant, addressed the Committee in support
of the application.
She stated that the applicant had agreed to provide a Noise Management Plan and
requested that the temporary period for the consent be amended to twelve months
from the discharge of the pre-commencement conditions.
The Vice-Chair moved and Councillor Lugg seconded that planning permission be
granted subject to the conditions in the report as amended.
RESOLVED that planning permission be granted subject to the conditions in
the report subject to the following amendments to condition 2:Condition 2
For a period not exceeding 12 months following approval of the Noise Management
Plan required pursuant to condition 3 below the loading and unloading of service
and delivery vehicles together with their arrival and departure from the site shall not
take place outside the following times: 06.00hrs - 23.00hrs on any day of the week.
After expiry of the 12 month period following approval of the Noise Management
Plan the loading and unloading of service and delivery vehicles together with their
arrival and departure from the site shall not take place outside the following times:
Monday-Saturday 07.00hrs-21.00hrs, Sunday 08.00hrs - 13.00hrs with no
deliveries on Bank Holidays.
Reason
To protect the amenity of local residents.
6.

DELEGATED DECISIONS
Consideration was given to a schedule of applications determined under delegated
powers during the month of June 2019.

7.

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Page 9 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE
06.08.19
Tuesday, 3rd September 2019 at 6.00pm.
Time of commencement: 6pm
Time of conclusion: 7pm
Chair

Page 10
4

Agenda Item 5
GLOUCESTER CITY COUNCIL - DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
Committee:

Planning

Date:

21.08.2019

Address/Location:

Next Quedgeley District Centre Olympus Park Quedgeley

Application No:

19/00537/FUL

Ward:

Quedgeley Fieldcourt

Expiry Date:

24.07.2019

Applicant:

The Royal London Mutual Insurance Society Ltd

Proposal:

Change of Use of Retail Unit (Class A1) to Gym/Health and Fitness Centre
(Class D2)

Report by:

Rhiannon Murphy

Appendices:

Site Location Plan

1.0

Introduction

1.1

The site is located within Quedgeley Retail Park to the east of Olympus Park which is accessed
from Bristol Road. Adjacent to the site is the A38. The immediate surrounding area is
commercial with residential properties to the east and west.

1.2

The existing building comprises two floors with a total floorspace of 1,550 square metres. The
use of the existing building is under A1 (retail) and was most recently occupied by Next. There
is an existing car parking area to the west (front) of the building which served the former next as
well as other nearby commercial units.

1.3

the proposal seeks the change of use of the building from retail (A1) to a gym/ health and
fitness centre (D2). The gym would be in operation 24 hours a day and would involve the
employment of 3 full time staff, 3-5 part time staff and 2-5 freelance staff. The proposed leisure
facilities would comprise WC’s, shower room, spin studio, sun beds, office, consultation room
and gym on the ground floor and staffroom, W/C’s, lockers, ancillary offices, studio and further
gym area on the first floor. The proposal does not seek any changes in parking or vehicular
access to the site.

1.4

Councillor Dave Norman has requested Committee determination on the basis that he
considers that there will be a loss of employment as the developer will create no jobs at
all. This site has not been empty for very long and very limited advertising of the site has
been undertaken.

2.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

Application
Number
00/00522/FUL
99/00344/FUL

Proposal
Extension to previously approved retail unit, GSC
additional car parking area , erection of
sprinkler tank and associated pump house.
Erection of 8 small shop units, 2 large non- GSC
food shop units, Health & Fitness Centre &
associated car parking
Page 11

Decision

Decision
Date
25.09.2000
12.10.1999

07/01121/FUL
07/01132/FUL

07/01143/ADV
07/01525/ADV
08/00247/FUL
08/01386/FUL

08/01592/FUL

Extension to existing car park to rear and
new vehicular access to existing service
yard.
External alterations to building including
modifications to shopfront, re-positioning of
fire exit canopy over delivery entrance and
provision of condensing unit compound.
Installation of 3 no. internally illuminated
fascia signs.
Installation of 2 no. fascia signs with
internally illuminated lettering.
Proposed replacement windows to retail
unit.
Partial demolition of unit including removal
of roof, portal frames and cladding and
installation of new roof , cladding and
framework.
Demolition and reinstatement of fire
damaged non food retail unit.

G3Y

11.10.2007

G3Y

11.10.2007

GFY

11.10.2007

GFY

24.01.2008

G3Y

17.04.2008

G3Y

06.11.2008

G3Y

06.02.2009

3.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this application:

3.2

National guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance

3.3

The NPPF includes relevant policy on;
 Building a strong, competitive economy
 Ensuring the vitality of town centres
 Promoting sustainable transport, including the statement that development should only be
prevented on transport grounds whether the residual cumulative impacts of development are
severe.
 Requiring good design and promoting healthy communities
 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change.

3.4

Development Plan
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (Adopted 11 December
2017)
Relevant policies from the JCS (Main Modifications) include:
SP1 - The need for new development
SP2 – Distribution of new development
SD2 – Retail and City/Town Centres
SD3 – Sustainable design and construction
SD4 – Design requirements
SD14 – Health and Environmental Quality
INF1 –Transport network
INF2 – Flood risk management
INF6 – Infrastructure delivery

3.5

City of Gloucester Local Plan (Adopted 14 September 1983)
The statutory Development Plan for Gloucester includes the partially saved 1983 City of
Gloucester Local Plan. Paragraph 213 of the NPPF states that ‘…due weight should be given to
Page 12

relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with this framework
(the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that
may be given.’ Therefore it is considered that the 1983 Local Plan is out-of-date and superseded
by later planning policy including the NPPF and the Joint Core Strategy.

3.6

Emerging Development Plan
Gloucester City Plan
The Gloucester City Plan (“City Plan”) will deliver the JCS at the local level and provide policies
addressing local issues and opportunities in the City. The Draft Gloucester City Plan 2017 takes
forward the results of previous consultations and was subject to consultation January and
February 2017. As the Plan is at an early stage, it is considered that it carries limited weight in
accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF.

3.7

Other Planning Policy Documents
Gloucester Local Plan, Second Stage Deposit 2002
Regard is also had to the 2002 Revised Deposit Draft Local Plan. This has been subjected to two
comprehensive periods of public and stakeholder consultation and adopted by the Council for
development control purposes. There are no day to day development management policies
relevant to this application although the proposals map identifies the Quedgeley District Centre
as such.

4.0

CONSULTATIONS

4.1

Highway Authority
No highways objection subject to the inclusion of a planning condition requiring details of cycle
parking.

4.2

Policy
No comments received

4.5

Environmental Health Adviser (Noise comments)
The agent has confirmed that the proposal does not intend to add any more air conditioning to
the unit. The only element will be the introduction of two external weather grills.
Further to this confirmation WRS raised the following comments;
Gym/ leisure centres often require additional cooling/ ventilation due to the nature of activities
being carried out with them. The plans for the new fitness centre do not appear to include the
installation of any additional external plant or ventilation/ extraction. If additional external plant is
to be installed we would advise that a BS4142:2014 noise assessment should be carried out to
demonstrate there would be no adverse impact upon existing receptors.
Gyms and leisure centres can generate noise complaints due to the following which can be
controlled by good management practices. The following comments are for advice only and
should not be seen to constrain development.



Weights being dropped can be a significant source of noise. Good management practices
and internal mitigation such as rubber flooring can reduce the likelihood of this being an
issue.
Noise from speaker systems can also be an issue if volumes are excessively loud. This
can easily be controlled and managed by setting clear limits to the maximum allowable
volume. This goes for both background music and exercise classes.
Page 13

4.6

Quedgeley Town Council
Quedgeley Town Council object on the following grounds;





The business model is mostly unmanned and does not provide local employment
opportunities
Would result in the loss of employment land. Other employment land has been lost due to
residential development in surrounding area.
Parking would be a problem and would reduce parking availability for other units.
Quedgeley and the local area already has a significant number of fitness centres in the
area

5.0

PUBLICITY AND REPRESENTATIONS

5.1

33 neighbouring properties were notified of the proposal and a site notice was placed on site.

5.2

11 objections have been received and 1 letter of support has been received.
The 11 letters of objection raised the following in respect to the proposal;
 Retail unit has only been empty for 1 month and has not been marketed for retail
 The proposal would generate little to no employment as the proposal is for an unmanned
gym
 There are already a high number of gyms within the nearby area
The letter of support raises that there is a lack of well-equipped gyms on the south side of
Gloucester and the proposal would prevent the need to travel to the other side of Gloucester to
go to the gym.

5.3

The full content of all correspondence on this application can be viewed on:
http://www.gloucester.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/Pages/publicaccess.aspx

6.0

OFFICER OPINION

6.1

Legislative background
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the Local Planning
Authority to determine planning applications in accordance with the Development Plan, unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.2

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) states that in dealing
with a planning application, the Local Planning Authority should have regard to the following:
a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application;
b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application; and
c) any other material considerations.

6.3

The development plan consists of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core
Strategy (JCS) and the partially saved 1983 City of Gloucester Local Plan. However, as outlined
earlier, the 1983 Local Plan is considered to be out-of-date.

6.4

The application does not propose any external changes to the building, therefore it is considered
that the main issues with regards to this application are as follows
 Principle of proposed change of use
Page 14






Highways considerations
Residential Amenity
Drainage and flood risk
Concerns raised from consultees/ neighbouring residents

Principle of proposed change of use
6.5

6.6

National Planning Policy Framework
The National Planning Policy Framework states that the vitality and viability of town centers
should be promoted in a way that can respond to rapid changes in the retail and leisure
industries. The NPPF recognises town centre uses in a broader context than just A1 retail use –
recognizing that a mix of facilities are required to create a thriving centre. Town centre uses as
identified through the NPPF include retail, leisure and entertainment.
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy Policy SD2
Policy SD2 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy refers to retail
and city/town centres and states ‘new residential, retail, leisure, tourism, office development and
community facilities that contribute to the vitality and viability of designated centres will be
promoted and supported’.

6.7

The site is located within Quedgeley District Centre which is identified as a local centre within the
Second Stage Deposit Draft Local Plan Proposals Map (2002). Whilst this map dates back to
2002, it remains a material consideration and there is no doubt that the area is a District Centre in
accordance with that designation.

6.8

The existing use of the building is A1 (retail) and was most recently occupied by Next. The
proposal seeks to change the use of the building to D2 – gym/health and fitness centre.

6.9

Given that the site is within an identified centre and the proposal seeks to change the use of the
building to a ‘town centre’ use the proposed change of use can be considered in accordance with
Policy SD2 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (2017) provided
that it is judged to contribute to the vitality and viability of the Centre. This is considered below.

6.10

In support of the application, the agent has provided information of the marketing of the Next Unit
and has stated that marketing of both the Next unit and the adjoining Brantano unit commenced
in June 2017. A marketing brochure has been provided as well as a letter from Savills outlining
the marketing that has taken place. The agent has raised that despite marketing the unit for two
years, it has not been possible to secure a retail tenant for either unit. Whilst the Town Council’s
comments that they believe that the marketing of the property has been inadequate, officers
consider that the period of two years is reasonable.

6.11

The Parish Council have commented that the proposal would result in a loss of employment land
and does not provide for local employment opportunities. The agent has advised that the
proposal would result in the employment of 3 full time staff, 3-5 part time staff and 2-5 freelance
staff in comparison with the current lack of employment being generated from the site.
Additionally, the agent considers that allowing a currently empty unit to be occupied, with
consequential benefits to the vitality and viability of Quedgeley District Centre, is an overriding
benefit in favour of the proposal.

6.12

The justification provided by the agent has been considered and it is noted whilst employment
levels at the site would be relatively low, it would come as an improvement compared with the
currently empty unit. Additionally, it would bring back into use a large unit within the Quedgeley
Retail Park which has been marketed unsuccessfully and this would have some benefit in terms
of the viability and vitality of the area. It is therefore considered that the proposal can be
considered acceptable in this respect.
Page 15

6.13

6.14

In considering all of the above, it is judged that the proposed change of use of the unit can be
considered acceptable and in accordance with the NPPF and Policy SD2 of the Gloucester,
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (2017).
Highways
Paragraph 109 of the NPPF provides that development should only be prevented or refused on
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
impacts upon the road network would be severe. Policy INF1 of the JCS requires safe and
accessible connections to the transport network.

6.15

The proposal would not result in any alterations to car parking or access at the site. A Trip
Assessment Generation Technical Note has been provided in support of the application which
considers the impact the proposal would have in terms of highways.

6.16

The Technical Note outlines the opportunity for sustainable forms of travel within the nearby area
through existing pedestrian footpaths and the availability of 5 bus stops within walking distance
of the site therefore allowing opportunities for sustainable forms of transport.

6.17

In terms of car parking, the Technical Note sets out that the net increase in parking demand as a
result of the proposed change of use from A1 to a gym is likely to occur outside peak times for
parking demand for the retail park as a whole. Consequently, that the demand generated by the
proposed development would be able to be accommodated within the existing parking areas.

6.18

The Town Council’s comments regarding parking provision are noted. Nevertheless, for the
above reasons the amount of parking available is considered to be sufficient for the development
proposed. Furthermore, the Highways Authority have been consulted and have raised no
objection to the proposal in highway terms. In considering the above, it is judged that the
proposal would not result in any significant highway impact and can therefore be considered
acceptable in accordance with Policy INF1 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint
Core Strategy (2017).

6.19

Residential amenity
Paragraph 127 (f) of the NPPF provides that planning should ensure that developments create
places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a
high standard of amenity for existing and future users, and where crime and disorder, and the
fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience. This is
reflected in Policy SD14 of the JCS which requires that new development must cause no harm to
local amenity including the amenity of neighbouring occupants.

6.20

The main consideration in terms of residential amenity for this application is in respect to possible
noise/ disturbance generated from the proposed use as the gym. The gym is proposed to be
open for use 24 hours a day. The site whilst located within a commercial area is relatively close to
residential properties. The site is located approximately 86 metres away from residential
properties to the east and 74 metres away from residential properties to the west.

6.21

Further to comments raised by the councils environmental health advisers (EHA), the agent
confirmed that the proposal would not include the introduction of air conditioning units but would
include the introduction of 2 small external weather grills. Should the use require additional air
conditioning units/plant in the future, this could be controlled by way of planning condition. Any
future application would be required to demonstrate that there would be no undue impacts on
nearby residential property.

6.22

The EHA has also advised that gyms and leisure uses can generate noise complaints, however
any issues can be controlled by good management practices. Should any complaints be made in
Page 16

the future, this can be dealt with under environmental health legislation.
6.23

6.24

6.25

6.26

6.27

In planning terms, given the distance of the building from nearby houses it is not considered that
noise arising from the use unduly harm the living conditions of occupiers of nearby residential
properties. The proposal can therefore be considered acceptable in accordance with Policy
SD.14 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (2017).
Drainage and flood risk
The NPPF requires that development is directed to the areas at lowest risk of flooding, that new
development should take the opportunities to reduce the causes or impacts of flooding, should
not increase flood risk elsewhere and take account of climate change. Policy INF2 of the JCS
reflects the NPPF, applying a risk based sequential approach, requiring new development to
contribute to a reduction in flood risk and requiring the use of sustainable drainage systems.
The site is located within floodzone 1 and is therefore at low risk of flooding. Given that the
proposal is for the change of use of an existing building and would not increase the floorspace of
the building, it is not considered that the proposal would have any unacceptable impact in terms
of drainage/ flooding for the site and can therefore be considered acceptable in accordance with
Policy INF2 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (2017).
Other matters
The Parish Council has commented that there are already a significant number of fitness centres
within the area. Nevertheless, as set out above the proposal is considered acceptable in
principle. In this context, competition is not a material planning consideration.
Conclusion
This application has been considered in the context of the policies and guidance referred to
above. The proposal is consistent with those policies and guidance in terms of design, highway
safety implications, impact upon the amenity of any neighbours and the local area; the proposal
is acceptable and accordingly it is recommended that planning permission be granted.

7.0

RECOMMENDATION OF THE CITY GROWTH AND DELIVERY MANAGER

7.1

That planning permission is GRANTED subject to the following conditions;
Condition 1
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the
date of this permission.
Reason
Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended
by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
Condition 2
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the application form,
trip generation technical note, and drawing numbers proposed block layout plan 0136-03 and
site/block plan 0136-00 Rev B except where these may be modified by any other conditions
attached to this permission.
Reason
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans.
Condition 3
The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of secure and covered
Page 17

cycle storage facilities for a minimum of 5 bicycles has been made available in accordance with
details which shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason
To give priority to cycle movements by ensuring that adequate cycle parking is provided, to
promote cycle use and to ensure that the appropriate opportunities for sustainable transport
modes have been taken up in accordance with paragraph 108 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
Condition 4
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), the premises
subject of this application shall only be used as a Gym/Health and Fitness Centre and for no
other use, including any use falling within Class D2 of the Use Classes Order 1987 (as
amended).
Reason
To ensure that the impact of any other use on the viability and vitality of the retail centre is
properly assessed in the interest of good planning.
Condition 5
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), no air conditioning
units or other plant shall be installed on the site without the prior express permission of the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason
To safeguard the living conditions of nearby residents.
Note 1
Your attention is drawn to the requirements of the Building Regulations, which must be obtained
as a separate consent to this planning decision. You are advised to contact the Gloucestershire
Building Control Partnership on 01453 754871 for further information.
Note 2
Your attention is drawn to the Party Wall Act 1996. The Act will apply where work is to be carried
out on the following:




Work on an existing wall or structure shared with another property.
Building a free standing wall or a wall of a building up to or astride the boundary with a
neighbouring property.
Excavating near a neighbouring building.

The legal requirements of this Act lies with the building/ site owner, they must find out whether the
works subject of this planning permission falls within the terms of the Party Wall Act. There are no
requirements or duty on the part of the local authority in such matters. Further information can be
obtained from the DETR publication The Party Wall Act 1996 – explanatory booklet.
Note 3
In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought to
determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application advice,
publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing to the council's website relevant
information received during the consideration of the application thus enabling the applicant to be
kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.
Page 18

Person to Contact: Rhiannon Murphy (396361)

Page 19

Planning Application:

19/00537/FUL

Address:

Next Quedgeley District
Centre Olympus Park
Quedgeley

Committee Date:

© Crown copyright and database rights 2011 Ordnance Survey 10019169
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Page 20

Agenda Item 6
GLOUCESTER CITY COUNCIL - DEVELOPMENT CONTROL
Committee:

Planning

Date:

3rd September 2019

Address/Location:

Plot J Kingsway Gate, Newhaven Road, Quedgeley Gloucester

Application No:

19/00058/FUL

Ward:

Kingsway

Expiry Date:

23.04.2019 Time Extension Agreed

Applicant:

Robert Hitchins Ltd

Proposal:

Proposed development of a Class A1 (retail) food store along with associated,
access, parking, landscaping, engineering and ancillary works.

Report by:

Caroline Townley

Appendices:

Site location and site layout plan. Retail advice letter from Avison Young dated
August 2019.

1.0

SITE DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL

1.1

The application site comprises a vacant site of 1.4 hectares located off Newhaven Road. The
site is a corner plot bounded by Newhaven Road to the east, the A38 along the western
boundary, with Avionics House situated adjacent to the site’s northern boundary. To the south
the site is bounded by Naas Lane beyond which is the Park and Ride facility at Waterwells
Business Park.

1.2

Historically there were several buildings and tennis courts on the site associated with the
former use as an RAF base. The buildings have been demolished and the site has been
cleared.

1.3

The surrounding area is characterised by a mix of retail and commercial units including Asda,
Avionics House, a Public House, Doctors Surgery together with residential development and
public open space.

1.4

The application site forms part of the wider former RAF Quedgeley site. The former RAF site
comprises two areas of land located on the west and east side of the A38 to the south of City.

1.5

Outline planning permission for the redevelopment of the site was granted by the Secretary of
State on the 26th June 2003 following a public inquiry in September and October 2001. The
permission was for a mixed-use development including residential (2650 dwellings),
employment uses (B1 and B8) on 20 hectares of land, two primary schools, a local centre,
roads, footpaths, cycleways and public open space.

1.6

A further outline planning permission was granted by the Secretary of State for additional
residential development including a primary school, roads, footpaths and cycleways, and
public open space (providing an additional 650 dwellings to the total approved under the earlier
outline planning permission to make an overall total of 3,300 dwellings) in 2007. A further
permission was then granted under reference 13/00585/OUT to renew the outline permission
in relation to the employment land.

1.7

The land currently permitted for employment uses is located to the south western end of the
wider RAF Quedgeley development site
adjacent
to the A38, to the rear of existing residential
Page
21

properties in Naas Lane, and includes the current application site. The current application site
forms part pf Parcel J of Framework 5 and benefits from an extant planning permission for
Class B1 and B8 Use.
1.8

The current application seeks full planning permission for a Class A1 (retail) food store, access,
parking, landscaping, engineering and ancillary works.

1.9

The proposed development would comprise a Class A1 foodstore, car parking (140 spaces, 7
disabled and 9 parent and child spaces), servicing and landscaping. Lidl is named as the
proposed operator. The proposed foodstore would have a gross internal floorspace of 2,125
sq. m (1,325 sq. m net) of which 80% (1,060 sq. m) would be for convenience goods and the
residual 265 sq. m for comparison goods. Cycle parking would also be provided close to the
store entrance beneath the store canopy. Access and egress to the store would be provided
from Newhaven Road.

2.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

Application
Number
00/00749/OUT

13/00585/OUT

Proposal

Decision

Application for Outline Planning
GOP
Permission: Proposed residential
development (2650 dwellings), employment
development (20 hectares) and associated
infrastructure, open space and community
facilities.
Renewal of outline planning permission for G3Y
the re-development of the former RAF
Quedgeley site (00/00749/OUT) granted
26th June 2003 in relation to the
employment area (20 hectares) on
Framework Plan 5.

Decision
Date
26.06.2003

03.11.2014

3.0

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

3.1

The following planning guidance and policies are relevant to the consideration of this application:

3.2

National guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance

3.3

The NPPF includes relevant policy on;
 Building a strong, competitive economy
 Ensuring the vitality of town centres
 Promoting sustainable transport, including the statement that development should only be
prevented on transport grounds whether the residual cumulative impacts of development are
severe.
 Requiring good design and promoting healthy communities
 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change, conserving and
enhancing the natural environment, conserving and enhancing the historic environment

3.4

Development Plan
Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy (Adopted 11 December
2017)
Relevant policies from the JCS (Main Modifications) include:
SP1 - The need for new development

Page 22

SP2 – Distribution of new development
SD1 – Employment – Except Retail Development
SD2 – Retail and City/Town Centres
SD3 – Sustainable design and construction
SD4 – Design requirements
SD6 – Landscape
SD8 – Historic Environment
SD9 – Biodiversity and geodiversity
SD14 – Health and Environmental Quality
INF1 –Transport network
INF2 – Flood risk management
INF3 – Green Infrastructure
INF5 – Renewable Energy/Low Carbon Energy Development
INF6–Infrastructure delivery
INF7 – Developer contributions
3.5

City of Gloucester Local Plan (Adopted 14 September 1983)
The statutory Development Plan for Gloucester includes the partially saved 1983 City of
Gloucester Local Plan. Paragraph 213 of the NPPF states that ‘…due weight should be given to
relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with this framework
(the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that
may be given.’ The majority of the policies in the 1983 Local Plan are out-of-date and
superseded by later planning policy including the NPPF and the Joint Core Strategy. None of the
saved policies are relevant to the consideration of this application.

3.6

Emerging Development Plan
Gloucester City Plan
The Gloucester City Plan (“City Plan”) will deliver the JCS at the local level and provide policies
addressing local issues and opportunities in the City. The Draft Gloucester City Plan 2017 takes
forward the results of previous consultations and was subject to consultation January and
February 2017. As the Plan is at an early stage, it is considered that it carries limited weight in
accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF.

3.7

Other Planning Policy Documents
Gloucester Local Plan, Second Stage Deposit 2002
Regard is also had to the 2002 Revised Deposit Draft Local Plan. This has been subjected to two
comprehensive periods of public and stakeholder consultation and adopted by the Council for
development control purposes. The following “day-to-day” development management policies,
which are not of a strategic nature and broadly accord with the policies contained in the NPPF,
should be given some weight:
S.4a –New Retail Developments outside of Designated Centres
E.4 – Protecting Employment Land
S.9 – New District and Local Centres
S.10 –District Centres

3.7

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
All policies can be viewed at the relevant website address:- national policies:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
Gloucester City policies:
http://www.gloucester.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/planningpolicy/Pages/current-planning-policy.aspx

Page 23

4.0

CONSULTATIONS

4.1

Highway Authority – The site will not have a significant impact subject to a highway works
agreement for the access and footway works and the inclusion of a number of conditions.

4.2

Highways England – No objection.

4.3

Landscape Adviser -The proposed landscape layout is acceptable. A landscape condition
should be attached to any permission and should include a requirement to supply details of tree
pits within hard areas including the use of a cellular system to increase the available root zone.

4.4

Arboriculturist – No objection. Happy with the proposed amendments and inclusion of extra
trees.

4.5

Ecology Adviser – No objection subject to the inclusion of conditions.

4.6

Contaminated Land Adviser - Records indicate that the proposed development is located
within part of the former RAF Quedgeley military site where contamination may be a significant
issue. The submitted Geo-Environmental Report is considered to represent an appropriate
contamination assessment with suitable conceptual site model. It is recommended that a
condition is attached to any planning permission.

4.7

Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) – No objection is raised. The submitted Flood Risk
Assessment and Drainage Strategy describes a suitable strategy for the control and
management of surface water discharge in terms of both volume and water quality and
demonstrates that the development will be safe from flood risk and will not increase flood risk
elsewhere.

4.8

Severn Trent Water - No objection subject to the inclusion of a condition.

4.9

Drainage Adviser – Concurs with the comments submitted by the LLFA and is satisfied with the
proposals in terms of attenuation and water quality. Pond 5, the basins where flows from this
development site will be attenuated, was built some time ago, and there is nothing to review in
terms of detail design. No objection subject to the inclusion of a condition requiring the
submission, approval and implementation of a detailed drainage design.

4.10

City Centre Improvement Officer (Environmental Protection) – No objection subject to the
inclusion of conditions restricting the hours of construction and the submission, approval and
implementation of a Dust management Plan.

4.11

Policy/DPDS Officer – On the basis of the advice received from the City Council’s specialist
retail consultant no policy objection is raised.

4.12

City Archaeologist – The site has been the subject to archaeological evaluation. That
investigation has demonstrated that archaeological remains survive within the site. These
remains may be associated with Iron Age and Roman settlement activity which has previously
been identified to the south-east. The City Archaeologist is therefore concerned that the
proposed development could damage or destroy archaeological remains within the site. It is
therefore advised that a condition should be attached to any permission to make provision for a
programme of archaeological mitigation.

4.13

Strategic Infrastructure (Minerals and Waste Policy) – The submitted Waste Minimisation
Strategy (WMS) represents a reasonable initial response to Policy WCS2 (Waste Reduction)
and affords a degree of confidence that the matter will be adhered to and the Waste Planning
Authority does not consider it necessary for further information to be submitted at this time. To
Page 24

ensure that the waste minimisation is successfully implemented it is recommended that
conditions are included on any planning permission.
4.14

Urban Design Adviser – False windows are not a considered design response and it is a shame
that the design of the building is so rigid that it cannot be altered to respond to the context of the
site. On balance, it is not considered that there is a design reason for refusal.

4.15

Quedgeley Town Council – Original comments:
 Include a condition which will require the provision of a pedestrian crossing in Newhaven
Road to the store car park pedestrian crossing access and an additional pedestrian
access from Naas Lane to improve access and safety of the community.
 Request S106 contribution for the provision of improved Council facilities to enhance the
services offered to the community in accordance with policies within the JCS INF6 and the
NPPF.
Comments in relation to the amended plans:
 Request the provision of a pedestrian access from Naas Lane.
 Request a Toucan crossing directly in line with the pedestrian walkways within the car
parking area.
 The NPPF states, safe and suitable access to the site to be achieved for all users and JCS
Policy INF1, Transport Networks, requires all developments to provide connections,
where appropriate, to existing walking, cycling and passenger transport networks and
should be designed to encourage maximum potential use and all opportunities are
identified and taken, where appropriate, to extend and/or modify existing walking, cycling
and public transport networks and links, to ensure that credible travel choices are
provided by sustainable modes.
 Quedgeley Town Council do not believe that the above have been addressed by this new
application and subsequently a decision should be delayed until an agreement has been
reached about how they will be addressed.

4.16

Gloucester Civic Trust -Acceptable subject to negotiations on materials being satisfactory.

5.0

PUBLICITY AND REPRESENTATIONS

5.1

Neighbouring properties were notified and press, and site notices were published.

5.2

Two letters of objection raising the following issues:
 The proposed site is close to a junction with no traffic calming which will put the local
community at risk when trying to access the store.
 Question the need for another supermarket. The area is already served by Tesco
(Express and Superstore), ASDA, Aldi and Farm Foods, which are all within the
Quedgeley and Kingsway area. Lidl already have a presence locally on Eastern Avenue.
Response to an online survey created to gain feedback demonstrates that there are clear
concerns locally and suggestions for alternative uses that would be welcomed on the site
including leisure facilities, school, Sainsburys, houses, B&M / Ikea, small business such
as greengrocer, butcher and bakery.
 Request that a more detailed social and economic assessment is made of the proposed
site by Robert Hitchins to assess what uses for this and the remaining sites will bring the
biggest benefits to the local area. Need more detailed level of community engagement to
understand local desire and opportunities to support and enhance the local community.
Ecological impact.
 Most trees are native species but have concerns regarding 3 of the species proposed.
 Concerned that tree maintenance / replacement is only guaranteed on the site for up to 5
years. Application also includes plans for the space on the additional plot of land opposite
the roundabout and will take a Page
significant
25 amount of time to become established. Request









that the timber fence is replaced with a hedgerow of whipping species that will require
minimum maintenance.
Disappointed that works have already begun to strip back trees / foliage on site.
Witnessed some tree work taking place using a mechanical excavator in conflict with
advice in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment.
See no evidence of mitigation for the loss of habitat for birds and bats.
Waste Minimisation
Waste Minimisation and Management Plan does not include some key points. No
commitment or targets to minimise and reuse waste through the construction, operation
or to encourage customers to make choices which minimise waste through choices in
store and at home.
Sustainable Transport
Travel Plan. Location is one of the furthest points in the area from residential dwellings
and on a key route in and out of the area. It does not lend itself to encouraging sustainable
travel choices by customers. No commitments to support employees in reducing car use.
No commitment to reviewing the plan
Traffic Assessment was undertaken in November 2017 and doesn’t take into account the
increased traffic flow due to additional or proposed development. Car parking is above
parking standards which does not encourage sustainable travel choices, will lead to
increased traffic in an already busy area and will undermine the travel plan.

5.3

The full content of all correspondence on this application can be viewed on:
http://www.gloucester.gov.uk/resident/planning-and-building-control/Pages/publicaccess.aspx

6.0

OFFICER OPINION

6.1

Legislative background
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the Local Planning
Authority to determine planning applications in accordance with the Development Plan, unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.2

Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) states that in dealing
with a planning application, the Local Planning Authority should have regard to the following:
a) the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application;
b) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application; and
c) any other material considerations.

6.3

The development plan consists of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint Core
Strategy (JCS) and the partially saved 1983 City of Gloucester Local Plan. However, as outlined
earlier, the 1983 Local Plan is considered to be out-of-date.

6.4
6.5

6.6

Principle of Development
It is considered that the main issues with regards to this application are as follows:
Retail Policies
The proposed A1 retail use is defined as a main town centre use by the National Planning Policy
Framework. Policy SD2 of the Joint Core Strategy sets out the requirements for new retail
floorspace in Gloucester. The Policy identifies the Primary Shopping Area, primary and
secondary frontages and the City Centre boundary, and which uses will be supported in the
different locations. The application site is located outside of the City Centre boundary and
primary shopping area boundaries.
Policy SD2 provides that proposals for A1 retail development located outside of the Primary
Shopping Area will be assessed in accordance with the sequential test and impact test as set out
Page 26

in the National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance. This provides that
proposals for retail and other main town centre uses that are not located in a designated centre,
will be robustly assessed against the requirements of the sequential test and impact test. The
Council has commissioned a retail consultant, Avison Young, to advise on the retail
considerations and the consultant’s advice is included in relevant sections of the report and
appended in full to the report.
6.7

The current application is supported by the following retail information:
 Planning Statement
 DPP Retail Assessment dated January 2019
 DPP Supplemental Comments to Initial Retail Assessment dated June 2019

6.8

Sequential Test
The sequential test requires ‘town centre uses’ to be located in town centres, then in edge of
centre locations, and only if suitable sites are not available should out of centre sites be
considered. It follows that when considering edge and out of centre proposals, preference should
be given to accessible sites that are well connected to the town centre, (NPPF Section 7 –
Ensuring the vitality of town centres, paragraphs 85-90). Assessments should be undertaken on
a ‘fascia blind’ basis, i.e. based on the broad type of retailing proposed, rather than a particular
occupier.

6.9

The application site lies outside of both the primary shopping area and city centre boundary as
shown on the policies map of the JCS and any local/district centre as identified in the 2002 Local
Plan. Consequently, there is a need to consider whether there are any suitable and available
premises in sequentially preferable locations that can accommodate the proposal, taking into
account the national policy requirement for flexibility in scale and format.

6.10

The applicant’s approach to the assessment of alternative uses which focuses upon the
application proposal but also considers alternative scales and formats within reasonable
boundaries has been accepted by the Council’s retail consultants (Avison Young). The area of
search for alternative sites suggests that the catchment of the proposed store is a 2 km radius
from the application site which has been accepted on the basis of an analysis of the market share
data provided by the household survey commissioned to inform the JCS Retail Study Update.

6.11

Quedgeley District Centre
There are currently two vacant units in Quedgeley District Centre comprising the former Next
store and Brantano. The Next unit has ground floor area of 748sq m with a 703 sq. m mezzanine.
Brantano has a ground floor area of 929sq m. This provides a total existing floorspace area of
2,400sq m with the potential for an additional mezzanine floor area in the former Brantano store.
Whilst acknowledging the available floor area, the submitted Retail Statement prepared by DPP
indicates that neither Lidl nor other foodstore operators trade from Mezzanine floors in stores of
broadly the size proposed or smaller stores. This is acknowledged and agreed by the Council’s
retail advisor. It is noted by DPP that a small amount of the existing mezzanine floor in the former
Next store could be utilised by some limited ‘back of house’ activity although the sales area and
the majority of storage areas will need to be on the ground floor. This would result in a store which
is 14% smaller than that proposed and which DPP acknowledge could be regarded as meeting
the national planning policy requirement for flexibility.

6.12

DPP do, however, dismiss the vacant units as being unsuitable on the basis that it would provide
a non-standard store which would result in operational difficulties together with limited car
parking. There is also a current planning application for a change of use of the former Next unit
into a gym, which if approved, and implemented would result in the unit becoming unavailable.

6.13

Avison Young agree with DPP that the scale of compromise which would be needed at the
ground floor level is to an extent that would make it unsuitable.
Page 27

6.14

6.15

6.16

6.17

Kingsway Local Centre
Kingsway Local Centre comprises a number of shops and services and there remain a number of
undeveloped vacant plots, but it is agreed that these do not provide a suitable alternative to the
application site.
Hunts Grove
This centre is proposed as part of the urban extension to the south and is referred to in the outline
planning permission and Policy SA4 of the adopted Stroud Plan. The policy notes that the
centre should meet the day-to-day needs of the local Hunts Grove community as a whole. Avison
Young advise that it is not 100% clear that Stroud District Council intend the new local centre to
be a formal part of the ‘town centre’ hierarchy in the District but, like DPP, have assumed this to
be the case for the purposes of our assessment. Avison Young agree with DPP that the local
centre cannot be considered to provide a suitable alternative for the proposed store as the centre
can only accommodate a foodstore of 1,115sq m gross. This is around half the size of the
proposed store and therefore is not a broadly similar development proposal.
In advising the City Council Avison Young conclude that the proposed foodstore cannot be
accommodated on any sequentially preferable sites in the catchment area and that the
provisions of the development plan and national planning policy insofar as the Sequential Test is
concerned has been met.
Retail Impact Assessment
The NPPF states that impact assessments should be required for retail developments over 2,500
square metres or any local threshold for out-of-centre retail developments that are not allocated
in a local plan. The Practice Guidance (PG) clarifies that this refers to “the gross retail floorspace
defined as the total built floor area measured externally which is occupied exclusively by a retailer
or retailers, excluding open areas used for the storage, display or sale of goods”. The proposed
floorspace is 2,125sq m gross. On this basis that there is not a locally set threshold for
Gloucester there is no formal policy requirement for the applicant to provide an impact
assessment. However, a proportional assessment has been undertaken to allow an assessment
of the likely impact of the proposed new foodstore focussing on Quedgeley District Centre.

6.18

The three existing stores that will contribute the majority of turnover to the proposed store are the
Aldi, Tesco Extra store at Quedgeley District Centre and the ASDA supermarket in Kingsway. It is
predicted that these stores will both individually and cumulatively lose a large amount of trade as
a consequence of the proposed new foodstore. The largest individual impact is predicted to be on
Aldi with a loss of 31% of its turnover as a consequence of the proposed store at Kingsway.
When considered cumulatively, the impact rises to -37% which is clearly a substantial loss of
trade. Based upon the latest survey evidence, the cumulative effects of proposed and committed
retail developments would turn a store which is trading well above its company average to a store
which trades very close to its company average. Based upon this data, whilst this is a large loss
of trade, there is no evidence to suggest that the future viability of the AIdi store would be
threatened.

6.19

There is also predicted to be large loss of trade from the ASDA store at Kingsway (-28%)
although this store is in an out-of-centre location and therefore is not protected by planning
policy.

6.20

It is predicted that Tesco store would lose around 12% of its convenience goods turnover as a
consequence of the proposal, which would increase to 13% when the impact of commitments is
taken into account. Evidence suggests, however, that the turnover of the store would remain
above the company average. Based on this data, Avison Young do not consider that there are
obvious grounds for concern for the future viability of the Tesco store.
Page 28

6.21

The other sources of trade diversion to the proposed foodstore, based upon the analysis by both
DPP and Avison Young, are from out of centre stores and therefore the only remaining focus for
the assessment is on Quedgeley District Centre.

6.22

The loss of Brantano and Next will have had a material effect on the overall health and
attractiveness of Quedgeley District Centre recently. The Tesco and Aldi stores would appear,
based upon the latest survey data, to still be performing well (the Tesco store in particular) but the
retail offer of the centre has, for the present time, been reduced with the loss of two significant
retailers. Overall, Avison Young advise that if conditioned appropriately, the proposed new
foodstore would have only a modest amount of comparison goods floorspace and is unlikely to
have a material effect upon this sector in the District Centre notwithstanding the recent negative
changes.

6.23

The other impact test relates to the impact of a proposal on existing, planned and committed town
centre investment projects. It is agreed that there are no planned or committed investment
projects in Quedgeley District Centre or other ‘town centres’ in the southern part of Gloucester
which would be significantly impacted upon by the proposed foodstore,

6.24

Avison Young conclude that they do not consider that the proposed foodstore is likely to have a
significant adverse effect upon the convenience goods sector in the District Centre (Aldi and
Tesco). It is acknowledged that the impact assessment should relate to the centre as a whole and
that the comparison goods sector in Quedgeley has experienced the loss of two retailers and
experienced a significant drop in turnover. Whilst this will have affected the overall health of the
centre, the proposed foodstore is unlikely to materially affect this element of the centre. On this
basis Avison Young advise that it is not considered that there are grounds to refuse the
application on the basis of the impact on Quedgeley District Centre.

6.25

6.26

6.27

Retail Policy Conclusion
As outlined above, the information submitted in support of the application demonstrates that
there are no suitable sequentially preferable sites available and that the sequential test is
passed. It is also accepted that the proposal would not have a significant adverse impact on any
identified centre.
On this basis there are no outstanding retail planning policy objections to the application, and it is
considered that the proposed development would accord with retail policies in the NPPF and
Policy SD2 of the JCS.
Loss of Employment Land
As set out in the planning history, the application has outline planning permission for employment
use within Classes B1 and B8. The site is not, however allocated for employment use in any
adopted plan.
Local and National Planning Policy

6.28

Joint Core Strategy
Policy SP1, ‘The Need for new development’ states:
Criteria 1 ‘During the plan period, provision will be made to meet the needs for approximately
35,175 new homes and a minimum of 192 hectares of B-class employment land to support
approximately 39,500 new jobs.’
Criterion 2 ‘This will be delivered by development within existing urban areas through district
plans, existing commitments, urban extensions to Cheltenham and Gloucester, and the provision
of Strategic Allocations at Ashchurch. This strategy aims to locate jobs near to the economically
active population, increasing sustainability, and reducing out-commuting thereby reducing
Page 29

carbon emissions from unsustainable car use.’
6.29

Policy SP2, ‘Distribution of new development’ Criterion 9 states: ‘To support economic growth in
the JCS area, the JCS will make provision for at least 192 hectares of B-class employment land.
At least 84 hectares of B-Class employment land will be delivered on Strategic Allocation sites as
detailed at Policy SA1. Any further capacity will be identified in District plans.’

6.30

Policy SD1 ‘Employment – except retail development’ sets out where employment development
will be supported.
Paragraph 4.1.8 in the explanation of this policy sets out that allocations are made at the strategic
allocations ‘…in addition to the existing capacity of available employment land and any remaining
land for previous development plan allocations within each authority area, extant planning
permissions, as well as any employment land allocations that may be made through the City and
Borough District Plans.’

6.31

Paragraph 4.1.3 and 4.1.4 further state: ‘In the NPPF, employment is considered in a wider
sense than the traditional industrial, office and warehousing (B1, B2 and B8) uses. For example,
uses such as retail, hotels, tourism, leisure facilities education, health services and residential
care (referred to as non-B use classes) can also be large employment providers. This policy
covers job generating uses such as business, industry and tourism. Retail and other uses,
including those within use class ‘A’ are not covered by this policy and are dealt with in SD2. More
detailed policies will be included in District Plans.

6.32

In order to prevent the incremental loss of existing employment land to non-employment uses,
and to ensure an adequate supply and choice of employment land and premises for the
employment market, district level plans will contain policies to safeguard existing employment
sites. These policies in District Plans will only permit changes of use in certain appropriate
circumstances to be defined by those plans. This policy is intended to be read alongside these
district plan policies when considering development proposals for any area.’

6.33

6.34

6.35

Gloucester City Plan 2017
The Gloucester City (GCP) plan is still emerging; it is intended the Pre-Submission version of the
Plan will be consulted upon over the summer of 2019. The last published version of the Plan
(Draft) included policies to protect employment land, including the application site. At present,
given the stage of preparation, the GCP is given very little weight.
Second Deposit City of Gloucester Local Plan (2002)
This Plan reached an advanced stage of preparation and has been adopted by the Council for
development control purposes. The majority of the policies have now been replaced by the Joint
Core Strategy, but several remain of relevant, including Policy E.4 ‘Protecting employment land’.
This policy states ‘Planning permission will not be granted for new development that involves the
loss of employment land unless the following criteria are met (1) The land has limited potential for
employment and (2) The developer is able to demonstrate that an alternative use, or mix of uses,
offers greater potential benefit to the community.’
National Planning Policy Framework 2018
Paragraph 80 sets out ‘Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which
businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to
support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and
wider opportunities for development. The approach taken should allow each area to build on its
strengths, counter any weaknesses and address the challenges of the future. This is particularly
important where Britain can be a global leader in driving innovation, and in areas with high levels
of productivity, which should be able to capitalise on their performance and potential.’
Page 30

6.36

6.37

Paragraph 121 further sets out that ‘…authorities should also take a positive approach to
proposals for alternative uses of land that are currently developed but not allocated for a specific
purpose in plans, where it would help to meet identified development needs. In particular, support
proposals to use retail and employment land for homes in areas of high housing demand,
provided this would not undermine key economic sectors or sites or the vitality and viability of
town centres, and would be compatible with other policies in this Framework.’
Local Evidence
The JCS policies were informed by a significant amount of evidence, prepared both before and
during the public examination. The most pertinent of these documents are (1) Employment land
assessment update (NLP, October 2015, EXAM138) and (2) JCS Economic Update Note
(February 2016, EXAM 180). The latter was informed by a significant amount of debate at the
examination and roundtable discussions with, amongst other participants, the Gloucestershire
Local Enterprise Partnership. It interrogated, amongst other things, the amount of employment
land available within each of the district areas in order to meet the 192-hectare requirement for B
use employment land that is now in Policy SD1 (itself aligned with the needs set out in the LEP
Strategic Employment Plan (SEP). For Gloucester City, it established that at the time, there were
circa 20 hectares of employment land subject to a previous allocation or with extant planning
consents, and a further seven hectares from other sites that would be considered for allocation
through the GCP. Appendix 2 provides details of the sites that make up this figure and Section C
of this (extant consents) includes ‘Kingsway Framework 5’ (00/00749/OUT) – the site subject to
this proposal.

6.38

The JCS identifies this extant consent as a part of the supply of sites that supports the delivery of
the 192 hectares of B use employment land. Equally, criterion 2 of Policy SP1 states ‘This will be
delivered by development within existing urban areas through district plans, existing
commitments, urban extensions to Cheltenham and Gloucester, and the provision of Strategic
Allocations at Ashchurch’. This was part of the rationale that allowed the tests of soundness to be
passed and the JCS to be found sound.

6.39

The JCS therefore sets out a strong position in terms of the overall need for employment land and
meeting the needs of the SEP. The NPPF is equally clear that in setting out its aspirations for
building a strong and competitive economy. However, it is also important to understand what the
demand for employment land is now and to ensure that the site is required and attractive for B
class employment development. The applicant has submitted details of the length of time the site
has been marketed, details of the marketing undertaken, and expressions of interest received.
Their view is that the land has been marketed for a significant period of time and that there has
not been any genuine interest in the land. However, it is also important to note that the 192
hectares of land is for B class employment and there are very few opportunities for this left in the
city.

6.40

The information submitted indicates that an extensive period of marketing activity has been
delivered for the site, stretching back to 2005 (prior to the completion of infrastructure works at
Kingsway). This marketing information has been considered and reviewed by the City Growth
and Delivery Officer.

6.41

Marketing literature in the form of development brochures have been produced for the site, the
first of which was produced in 2007. In 2014 this was subsequently updated, with two 2016
revisions and another for 2017 (the one currently being used). The City Growth and Delivery
Officer is satisfied that that the marketing of the site has been carefully considered and adjusted
accordingly, to broaden its appeal to potential tenants. It should be noted that the past five years
specifically has seen four separate revisions, and the design settled on in 2017 is considered to
be of sufficient quality that no additional information could be added that would necessarily
improve it. Indicative layouts for feasible development schemes have also been generated, again
providing clear evidence that the marketing of the site has been appropriately structured to attract
Page 31

attention.
6.42

Website listings have also been completed and as such, the site has high visibility across
property search websites.

6.43

The evidence submitted in relation to the interest received for the site since it has been marketed
(in the case of four individual case examples) indicates that the marketing activity undertaken has
been of a sufficiently high standard to generate leads.

6.44

Overall, the City Growth and Delivery Officer is satisfied that the marketing activities undertaken
for the site are enough to suggest that over a 12-year period clients should have been secured as
long as there were no extenuating issues surrounding the site and its overall quality. The
application site has enjoyed the benefit of outline planning permission for some years. The
evidence submitted by the applicant in respect of the marketing of the site does indicate that,
despite the existence of planning permission, it has not proven attractive to investors/companies.
Whilst the development would not provide employment opportunities within use classes B1 or B8
it would provide a number of on-going employment opportunities in the retail market together with
temporary employment generated during the construction phase. The applicant has indicated
that it is envisaged that the store would provide approximately 40 jobs.

6.45

Overall, whilst the concerns of the local community are noted, it is considered that, given the lack
of interest in the site despite long-term marketing, that the principle of the loss of employment
land is acceptable in this instance.

6.46

Design, Layout and Landscaping
The NPPF emphasises the importance of high quality and inclusive design for all development.
JCS Policy SD3 requires all developments to demonstrate how they contribute to the principles of
sustainability, Policy SD4 sets out requirements for high quality design while Policy SD6 requires
development to protect or enhance landscape character.

6.47

The proposed building would be sited towards the rear of the site set back from Newhaven Road
behind the car park, with the delivery / loading area located to the southern elevation. Vehicular
access to the site would be gained from Newhaven Road.

6.48

The originally submitted plans proposed a full height glazed shopfront to the northern elevation
with the use of through coloured white render, contrasting grey plinth and horizontal insulated
grey metal cladding at high level. The roof would be mono pitched falling away to the western
boundary (alongside the A38 and would be formed with a metal composite panel system at a low
pitch (approximately 4 degrees). The main roof would extend over the delivery area of the
building to the south. The highest section of roof would be approximately 7 metres in height to the
shop frontage.

6.49

Amended plans have since been submitted which have introduced red brick panels together with
brick piers and aluminium framed glazed ‘look-a-like’ panels to the east elevation fronting the
customer car park. The entrance and shopfront comprise full height glazing. The render has been
retained to the side and rear elevations.

6.50

Existing trees would be retained along both the north and south of the site. The existing row of
trees alongside the A38, outside the application site, will also be retained. Amended landscaping
plans have also been received to introducing additional tree planting both within the car parking
area and along the site boundaries. The Council’s Tree Officer had detailed discussions with the
applicant at the pre-application stage and the submitted landscaping plan proposes a good
amount of retained trees together with additional mitigation tree cover. The landscaping scheme
also proposes the introduction of a new native hedge around the perimeter of the car park which
Page 32

would add seasonal interest and benefit to wildlife. Overall there would be a net gain in tree cover
across the site.
6.51

The site is well screened from most boundaries and the building would be set well back into the
site. The scale and massing of the proposed units is what you would expect to see in this type of
location. There is a good amount of landscaping proposed within the car park and along the
roadside.

6.52

Overall the design, layout and landscaping of the proposed development would be of a design
standard in keeping with the surrounding area and is considered acceptable.

6.53

6.54

6.55

6.56

6.57

Traffic and transport
The NPPF requires that development proposals provide for safe and suitable access for all and
that development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the residual
cumulative impacts of development are severe. Policy INF1 of the JCS requires safe and
accessible connections to the transport network.
Access
Vehicular Access
The proposed access illustrates that there is sufficient space for a delivery HGV swept path
tracking in all directions and appropriate visibility splays into and out from the highway.
Pedestrian / Cycle Access
Cycle access to the proposed development would be available via the vehicle access. A footway
is proposed along the northern side of the access road, which would connect to the existing
footway on the western side of Newhaven Road. A second marked footway route is proposed
through the car park from the store entrance to the existing footway on the western side of
Newhaven Road with a tactile pedestrian crossing just south of the site access. The site vehicle
access includes a pedestrian refuse island crossing for pedestrians north and south on the
existing footway. These footway connections and crossings provide suitable pedestrian
connections to the store.
Bus Stops
Plans originally included proposals to relocate and upgrade the existing bus stops along
Newhaven Road. However, following recent notification that the public bus service (66) along
Newhaven Road has been withdrawn these proposals are no longer required. The nearest
alternative bus service runs alongside Rudloe Drive and Nass Lane to the south of the site. The
route has been reviewed by the Local Highway Authority and it is considered that the existing
stop facilities at the Waterwells Park and Ride facility off Telford Way have suitable facilities for
staff and customers and no further works are required.
Layout
The access road to the proposed foodstore car park is 9m in width, which is sufficiently wide to
allow two-way working between an articulated HGV and car along its length. The car park layout
includes aisle widths between seven and ten meters, which would facilitate efficient movement of
vehicles to/from parking spaces and reduce the likelihood of queuing back onto the local
highway.

6.58

The loading bay for foodstore deliveries is located to the far side of the car park. The TA
concludes that articulated HGV deliveries would be required to traverse the car park and store
frontage, passing both disabled and parent/child spaces, to then use the car park space to
reverse into the loading bay. This would result in potential conflict between HGVs, cars and
pedestrians/cyclists within the site.

6.59

Overall, the Highway Authority has raised no objections to the layout on the basis that:
Page 33







the number of HGV trips at the site will be low, stated to be one or two per day;
the Applicant has confirmed that a Delivery Management Strategy will be implemented to
reduce the likelihood of conflicts between HGVs and other users, to include the store
receiving advanced warning of the delivery being on approach and utilising a banksman to
guide the delivery in. The applicant has advised that this is a Lidl policy for all deliveries at
all UK sites;
the layout is similar to that at the existing Lidl store at Eastern Avenue, also within
Gloucester;
any alternative layout, especially options for the loading bay to be located to the north of
the store building, could potentially create other conflict issues with the site access road.
Whilst some conflict could be removed from the existing layout, it is possible that this is
precluded by other non-transport design issues.

6.60

The Delivery Management Strategy would need to be included within the Delivery and Servicing
Plan which can be secured by Planning Condition to mitigate against any likely conflicts
between HGVs and other site users (vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists).

6.61

A footway is proposed along the access road to facilitate safe pedestrian access to/from
Newhaven Road. The masterplan also shows a connection from Newhaven Road to the south
of the vehicle access, running through the car park layout with zebra crossings provided to
allow safe pedestrian movements through the car park.

6.62

Parking
Vehicle Parking
Although local car parking standards have been superseded by the NPPF, and therefore carry
very little weight; the Highway Authority has used the local standards as a guide. The local car
parking standards recommend that an A1 retail use should provide 1 space per 18 sq. m gross
floor area for a food store over 1000 sq. m in size. Using these standards, the size of the
proposed new store would require 123 spaces of which at least 5% of the parking being allocated
as disabled parking. On this basis the Highway Authority is satisfied that the application provides
suitable car parking provision. The site is also conveniently located to high quality public
transport facilities which can provide an alternative mode of transport.

6.63

The proposed development includes provision for 140 car parking spaces of which 124 would be
standard spaces, 9 (6.4%) would be parent and child spaces and 7 (5%) would be disabled
access spaces. The TA states that this level of parking is proposed based on known operational
requirements of similar stores nationwide and to prevent overspill parking onto the local highway
network. The TA also points out that in all likelihood, future customers will complete trips using
vehicles due to the nature of the proposed development and that an over-provision of spaces is
not considered to be deterrent to sustainable travel to/from the development.

6.64

The level of parking proposed is considered acceptable for this development, however, there is
still no electric vehicle charging included within the parking layout which is required in order to
comply with NPPF paragraph 110 to enable electric and ultra-low emission vehicle charging
encourages and maximising opportunities for sustainable vehicles especially given the
government plans to ban petrol and diesel vehicles. Therefore, it is suggested that a minimum of
2% of the parking provision spaces with electric vehicle charging with charging infrastructure is
required by condition. Based on the proposed parking provision this would equate to 3 electric
charging spaces.

6.65

Cycle Parking
Ten cycle parking spaces are proposed to be provided at the site, which the Applicant considers
to be appropriate given the likely number of cycle trips associated with the proposed
development. Cycle parking is to be located closer to the entrance lobby, which would benefit
Page 34

from natural surveillance. It is still not clear whether there is a distinction between short stay
customer cycle parking and long stay staff cycle parking. A separate area for staff cycle parking
away from publicly accessible areas is also considered to be necessary and can be secured by
planning condition.
6.66

Travel Plan
The NPPF Paragraph 111 states that all significant generators of traffic movements should be
required to provide a Travel Plan (TP). JCS Policy INF1 provides that applications may be
required to be accompanied by a Travel Plan. The Travel Plan should be formulated in
accordance with the GCC Travel Plan Guidance for developers.

6.67

The Department for Transport (DfT) defines a travel plan as “a long-term management strategy
that seeks to deliver sustainable transport objectives through positive action”. Such plans could
include; car sharing schemes, commitment to improving cycle facilities, dedicated bus services
or restricted parking allocations. A successful Travel Plan should offer users whether they are
employees, residents or visitors a choice of travel modes from sites or premises.

6.68

A Workplace Travel Plan (WTP) has been prepared to accompany the planning application.
Although not specifically stated, it is assumed that that Travel Plan is in Outline, as the site is
not yet occupied. A Full TP is however considered to be necessary following the baseline travel
surveys and this can be secured by an appropriately worded Planning condition.

6.69

Overall, the County Highways Officer considers that the content of the TP is reasonable, with
specific comments made in this review where appropriate. Whilst it is right that the TP focuses on
employees as this is where the greatest opportunity to influence travel patterns lies, the TP
should refer to visitor travel to/from the development, mainly relating to customers. This should
include the provision of information on sustainable travel options.

6.70

6.72

Conclusion on Highway Matters
In light of the above, the Local Highway Authority has recommended that no highway objection
be raised, subject to the inclusion of a number of conditions being attached to any permission. On
that basis it is considered that there are no highway objections to the proposals.
Residential amenity
Paragraph 17 of the NPPF provides that planning should always seek to secure high quality
design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.
This is reflected in Policy SD14 of the JCS which requires that new development must cause no
harm to local amenity including the amenity of neighbouring occupants.

6.73

There are a number of residential properties located to the west of the A38 on Bristol Road.
These properties are set back from the road, with traffic noise the main influence on the noise
environment. The closest properties would be approximately 60 metres from the rear boundary of
the proposed service yard. Noise from the external plant and deliveries are considered to be the
main source of potential noise.

6.74

An assessment of the likely noise levels has been undertaken, which indicated that the daytime
operations during the periods when the store would be operational would not result in any
adverse noise impacts. Overnight, the assessment of noise from the operation of the external
plant and potential deliveries indicated low levels of noise, which would be unlikely to result in any
adverse noise impacts, when considered against relevant standards and guidance, including the
NPPF.

6.75

The Environmental Protection officer has reviewed the submitted Noise Assessment and has
raised no objection to the application subject to the inclusion of conditions to restrict the hours of
work during the construction phase and the submission, approval and implementation of a dust
Page 35

management plan.
6.76

6.77

6.78

Drainage and flood risk
The NPPF requires that development is directed to the areas at lowest risk of flooding, that new
development should take the opportunities to reduce the causes or impacts of flooding, should
not increase flood risk elsewhere and take account of climate change. Policy INF2 of the JCS
reflects the NPPF, applying a risk based sequential approach, requiring new development to
contribute to a reduction in flood risk and requiring the use of sustainable drainage systems.
The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (FRA) and a
Foul Water Assessment. The FRA concludes that the site is entirely in Flood Zone 1, (area at the
lowest risk of flooding), and the proposed development would not be at risk of flooding from all
sources. The site would be served by the approved Drainage Strategy for the wider RAF
Quedgeley (Kingsway) site which deals with surface water and foul drainage. Pond 5, the basin
where flows from this development site will be attenuated, was built some time ago. No
objections have been received from the Lead Local Flood Authority or the Council’s Drainage
Engineer subject to the inclusion of a condition requiring the submission, approval,
implementation and retention of a detailed drainage plan on the site.
Land contamination
Policy SD14 of the JCS requires that development proposals incorporate the investigation and
remediation of any land contamination.

6.79

The site is part of the former RAF base and records indicate that contamination maybe present.
The site investigation carried out across the site did not identify significant contamination and no
exceedances of the commercial site assessment criteria were recorded. A single sample tested
positive for asbestos fibres in an area to be located beneath the hardstanding of the main building
and therefore does not require any further investigation.

6.80

A number of former landfills or areas of unknown filled ground were identified within 250 metres
of the site, licensed to accept waste, including household waste. There are therefore potential
risks from migration of landfill gas. Gas monitoring has been undertaken at the site as part of the
ground investigation and as a result of this monitoring the Council’s Contaminated Land Adviser
concludes that gas protection measures will be required.

6.81

On this basis the Council’s contaminated land advisor has recommended the inclusion of a
condition.

6.82

Ecology
Policy SD9 of the JCS provides that the biodiversity and geological resource of the JCS will be
protected and enhanced.

6.83

An Ecological Assessment report was submitted in support with the application and has been
assessed by the City Council’s Ecological Advisor. The trees on site have been assessed for
their suitability to support roosting bats and was found to be negligible. Nesting birds are likely to
use the site and a condition is recommended to secure their interest.

6.84

The site is likely to be used as a foraging resource for common bat and bird species and it is
recommended that retained habitat is improved wit new planting to offset the loss of any habitat
proposal for removal and that lighting is sensitively planned to prevent negative impacts on
retained habitat.

6.85

The proposed landscaping includes a mixed species native hedgerow which together with the
retention of the existing buffer around the site is welcomed.
Page 36

6.86

6.87

6.88

6.89

Economic considerations
The construction phase would support employment opportunities and therefore the proposal
would have some economic benefit. In the context of the NPPF advice that ‘significant weight
should be placed on the need to support economic growth through the planning system’, this
adds some weight to the case for granting permission.
It is estimated that the proposed new store would create up to 40 new jobs together with the
short-term jobs associated with the construction period. Furthermore, the applicant considers
that the proposals would deliver a sustainable development opportunity on a brownfield site
which has lain vacant for a considerable number of years.
Other Issues Raised
Quedgeley Town Council requested a contribution from the development for the provision of
improved council facilities to enhance services offered to the community. This request does not
meet the legal tests for a s106 obligations set out in the CIL Regulations as it is not directly
related to the development or necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms.
The type of development proposed does not attract a CIL charge having regard to the Council’s
CIL charging schedule.
Conclusion
This application has been considered in the context of the policies and guidance referred to
above. The proposal is consistent with those policies and guidance in terms of design, materials,
highway safety implications, impact upon the amenity of any neighbours and the local area; the
proposal is acceptable and accordingly it is recommended that planning permission be granted.

7.0

RECOMMENDATION OF THE CITY GROWTH AND DELIVERY MANAGER

7.1

That planning permission is GRANTED subject to the following conditions;
Condition 1
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the
date of this permission.
Reason
Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended
by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
Condition 2
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the application form,
and drawing numbers 8737 PL01, 8737 PL03 Rev D, 8737 PL04, 8737 PL05 Rev D, C21723-01
and 1706-22-SK02 Rev D except where these may be modified by any other conditions attached
to this permission.
Reason
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans.
Condition 3
No building works hereby permitted shall be commenced until detailed plans for surface water
drainage works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The details submitted shall include proposals for the disposal of surface water in accordance with
the principles of Sustainable Urban Drainage (SuDS). The approved surface water drainage
details shall be implemented prior to the foodstore hereby permitted being brought into use and
thereafter maintained thereafter for the lifetime of the development.
Page 37

Reason
To ensure satisfactory drainage of the site and avoid flooding. It is important that these details are
agreed prior to the commencement of development as any works on site could have implications
for drainage in the locality.
Condition 4
Prior to the commencement of development details of the proposed foul water drainage
arrangements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the foodstore hereby permitted being brought
into use and thereafter maintained thereafter for the lifetime of the development.
Reason
In order to ensure that satisfactory drainage arrangements are provided and to prevent or to
avoid exacerbating any flooding issues and to minimise the risk of pollution. It is important that
these details are agreed prior to the commencement of development as any works on site could
have implications for drainage in the locality
Condition 5
No development or groundworks other than demolition to slab shall commence within the site
until a written scheme of investigation (WSI) has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. No development or demolition shall take place within the site other
than in accordance with the agreed WSI, which shall include a statement of significance,
research objectives, and;


An archaeological impact assessment;



The programme and methodology of site investigation and recording and the nomination
of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the agreed works; and



The programme for post-investigation assessment and subsequent analysis, publication
& dissemination and deposition of resulting material. This part of the condition shall not be
discharged until these elements have been fulfilled in accordance with the programme set
out in the WSI.’

Reason
To make provision for a programme of archaeological mitigation, so as to record and advance
understanding of any heritage assets which will be lost, in accordance with paragraph 199 of the
National Planning Policy Framework and Policy SD8 of the Gloucester, Cheltenham and
Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy Adopted 2017.
Condition 6
No development, other than that required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of
remediation, shall commence until parts A to C have been complied with. If unexpected
contamination is found after development has begun, development must be halted on that part of
the site affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning
Authority in writing until part C has been complied with in relation to that contamination.
A. Submission of Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by
removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural and
historical environment must be prepared and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. The
scheme must accord with the provisions of the EPA 1990 in relation to the intended use of the
Page 38

land after remediation.
B. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to the
commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must
be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification
report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the effectiveness of the
remediation carried out must be produced and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local
Planning Authority.
C. Reporting of Unexpected Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development
that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning
Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken, and where remediation is
necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of
the Local Planning Authority.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification
report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning
Authority in accordance with condition 3.
Reason
In the interests of public health.
Condition 7
No development works above DPC level shall take place until details or samples of materials to
be used externally on walls, roofs, windows and external doors, have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason
To ensure a satisfactory appearance of the development.
Condition 8
Notwithstanding the details submitted no development works above DPC level shall take place
until until a landscape scheme, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The submitted design shall include scaled drawings and a written
specification clearly describing the species, sizes, densities, planting numbers and a
specification of the details for the tree planting pits. Drawings must include accurate details of all
existing trees and hedgerows with their location, species, size, condition, any proposed tree
surgery and an indication of which are to be retained and which are to be removed.
Reason
To ensure that appropriate measures are in place to ensure a satisfactory and well-planned
development and to preserve and enhance the quality of the environment.
Condition 9
The landscaping scheme approved under condition 19 above shall be carried out concurrently
with the development hereby permitted and shall be completed no later than the first planting
season following the completion of the development. The planting shall be maintained for a
period of 5 years. During this time any trees, shrubs or other plants which are removed, die, or
are seriously retarded shall be replaced during the next planting season with others of similar
Page 39

size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. If
any plants fail more than once they shall continue to be replaced on an annual basis until the end
of the 5 year maintenance period.
Reason
To ensure a satisfactory and well planned development and to preserve and enhance the quality
of the environment.
Condition 10
Notwithstanding the submitted details no development, shall be commenced on the site or
machinery or material brought onto the site for the purpose of development until full details
regarding adequate measures to protect trees have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. This shall include:
(a)
Fencing. Protective fencing must be installed around trees to be retained on site. The
protective fencing design must be to specifications provided in BS5837:2012 or subsequent
revisions, unless agreed in writing with the local planning authority. A scale plan must be
submitted and approved in writing by the local planning authority accurately indicating the
position of protective fencing. No development shall be commenced on site or machinery or
material brought onto site until the approved protective fencing has been installed in the
approved positions and this has been inspected on site and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Such fencing shall be maintained during the course of development,
(b)
Tree Protection Zone (TPZ) The area around trees and hedgerows enclosed on site by
protective fencing shall be deemed the TPZ. Excavations of any kind, alterations in soil levels,
storage of any materials, soil, equipment, fuel, machinery or plant, siting of site compounds,
latrines, vehicle parking and delivery areas, fires and any other activities liable to be harmful to
trees and hedgerows are prohibited within the TPZ. The TPZ shall be maintained during the
course of development
Reason
To ensure adequate protection to existing trees which are to be retained, in the interests of the
character and amenities of the area.
Condition 11
Notwithstanding the submitted drawings, no development works above DPC level shall take
place until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a
plan indicating the positions, design, materials and type of all boundary treatments. The
boundary treatment shall be completed in accordance with a timetable to be agreed in writing
with the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details and thereafter maintained in a suitable condition.
Reason
In the interests of visual amenity.
Condition 12
Notwithstanding the submitted details, no development works above DCP level shall take place
until details of external lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The details shall clearly demonstrate that lighting will not cause excessive
light pollution or disturb or prevent bat species using key corridors, forage habitat features or
accessing roost sites. The details shall include, but not limited to, the following:
i. A drawing showing sensitive areas and/or dark corridor safeguarding areas
ii. Description, design or specification of external lighting to be installed including shields,
cowls or blinds where appropriate.
Page 40

iii. A description of the luminosity of lights and their light colour
iv. A drawing(s) showing the location and where appropriate the elevation of the light fixings.
v. Methods to control lighting control (e.g. timer operation, passive infrared sensor (PIR)).
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set out in
the approved details. These shall be maintained thereafter in accordance with these details.
Under no circumstances shall any other external lighting be installed.
Reason
To safeguard the existing value of biodiversity on and adjacent to the site to protect foraging bats
in accordance with the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Circular 06/2005, the National Planning Policy Framework.
Condition 13
Prior to the beneficial use of the development hereby permitted a scheme for biodiversity
enhancement, such as incorporation of permanent bat roosting feature(s) and or nesting
opportunities for birds, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved details thereafter shall be implemented, retained and maintained for the
lifetime of the development for their designed purpose in accordance with the approved scheme.
The scheme shall include, but not limited to, the following details:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

Description, design or specification of the type of feature(s) or measure(s) to be
undertaken.
Materials and construction to ensure long lifespan of the feature/measure
A drawing(s) showing the location and where appropriate the elevation of the
features or measures to be installed or undertaken.
When the features or measures will be installed and made available.

Reason
To secure biodiversity mitigation and enhancement.
Condition 14
No demolition, tree or shrub removal or clearance works shall take place between 1st March and
31st August inclusive unless a survey (by a suitably qualified ecologist) to assess the nesting bird
activity on the site during this period and a scheme to protect the nesting bird interest on the site
have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall only be carried out in strict accordance with the nesting bird scheme so
approved.
Reason
To safeguard biodiversity as set out by the Habitats Regulations 2017, the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), and in accordance with Policy B.8 of the Second Deposit
City of Gloucester Local Plan (2002).
Condition 15
Notwithstanding the submitted Travel Plan, prior to occupation of the development hereby
permitted a Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, setting out;
i. objectives and targets for promoting sustainable travel,
ii. appointment and funding of a travel plan coordinator,
iii. details of an annual monitoring and review process for a minimum of 10 years including
employee questionnaire surveys,
iv. means of funding of the travel plan including measures, travel plan co-ordinator, and
monitoring with reports;
Page 41

v.

an implementation timetable including the responsible body for each action.

Reason
The development will generate a significant amount of movement and to ensure that the
appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes are taken up in accordance
with paragraphs 108 and 111 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
Condition 16
Throughout the construction period of the development hereby permitted provision shall be within
the site that is sufficient to accommodate the likely demand generated for the following:
i. parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials;
iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
iv. wheel washing facilities
Reason
To reduce the potential impact on the public highway and accommodate the efficient delivery of
goods in accordance with paragraph 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
Condition 17
Prior to occupation of the proposed development hereby permitted the first 15m of the proposed
access road, including the junction with the existing public road and associated visibility splays,
shall be completed to at least binder course level in accordance with drawing 1706-22-SK02 Rev
D.
Reason
To minimise hazards and inconvenience for users of the development by ensuring that there is a
safe, suitable and secure means of access for all people that minimises the scope for conflict
between traffic and cyclists and pedestrians in accordance with paragraphs 108 and 110 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.
Condition 18
The building hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the vehicular parking and turning and
loading/unloading facilities have been provided in accordance with drawing number 8737 PL03
Rev D and those facilities shall be maintained available for those purposes thereafter.
Reason
To ensure that a safe, suitable and secure means of access for all people that minimises the
scope for conflict between traffic and cyclists and pedestrians is provided in accordance with the
paragraphs 108 and 110 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
Condition 19
Notwithstanding the submitted plans, a minimum of 3 parking spaces enabling electric or ultralow emission vehicle charging shall be provided within the site near to the store entrance, in
accordance with details which shall first be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason
In the interests of sustainable development.
Condition 20
Notwithstanding the submitted plans the development hereby permitted shall not be occupied
Page 42

until cycle storage facilities have been provided for both customers and staff in accordance with
details which have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The cycle facilities so provided shall be maintained and be available for use for the
lifetime of the development.
Reason
To give priority to cycle movements by ensuring that adequate cycle parking is provided, to
promote cycle use and to ensure that the appropriate opportunities for sustainable transport
modes have been taken up in accordance with paragraph 108 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
Condition 21
The foodstore hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a Delivery and Service
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The foodstore shall only operate in accordance with the Delivery and Service
Management Plan so approved.
Reason
To minimise conflicts between vehicle and non-vehicular movements in accordance with
paragraph 108 and 110 of the NPPF and Local Plan.
Condition 22
During the construction (including demolition and preparatory groundworks) phase no machinery
shall be operated, no process shall be carried out and no deliveries taken at or dispatched from
the site outside the following times: Monday-Friday 8.00 am-6.00pm, Saturday 8.00 am-1.00 pm
nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.
Reason
To protect the amenity of local residents.
Condition 23
Detailed measures relating to the minimisation and control of dust emissions from the
preparatory groundworks, demolition and construction phases, in accordance with Guidance on
the assessment of dust from demolition and construction - Institute of Air Quality Management
(2014), shall be included in a Dust Management Plan (DMP). The DMP shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to any groundworks/construction
commencing and shall specify mitigation measures in respect of minimisation and control of dust
emissions from the proposed development site.
Reason
To ensure that appropriate measures are in place prior to the commencement of development to
protect the amenity of local residents
Condition 24
No above-ground development shall commence until a detailed Site Waste Management Plan
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan shall
identify the main waste materials expected to be generated by the development during the
construction phase and set out measures for dealing with such materials so as to minimise
overall waste and to maximise re-use, recycling and recovery in line with the waste hierarchy.
The detailed Site Waste Management Plan must include: i) Information on the type and amount of waste likely to be generated prior to and / or during the
construction phase;
ii) Details of the practical arrangements for managing waste generated during construction in
accordance with the principles of waste minimisation; and
Page 43

iii) Details of the measures for ensuring the delivery of waste minimisation during the construction
phase.
The Site Waste Management Plan shall be fully implemented as approved.
Reason
To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation in accordance with Gloucester,
Cheltenham, Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy Policy SD3 – Sustainable Design and
Construction; Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy: Core Policy WCS2 – Waste Reduction; and
paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW).
Condition 25
No above-ground development shall commence until details of the provision made for facilitating
the recycling of waste generated during the occupation phase have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Provision must include appropriate and
adequate space to allow for the separate storage of recyclable waste materials that will not
prejudice the delivery of a sustainable waste management system in line with waste hierarchy.
The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the details so approved.
Reason
To ensure the effective implementation of waste minimisation in accordance with Gloucester,
Cheltenham, Tewkesbury Joint Core Strategy Policy SD3 – Sustainable Design and
Construction; Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy: Core Policy WCS2 – Waste Reduction; and
paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW).
Condition 26
The gross external floorspace of the approved building shall not exceed 2125 sq. m and the net
sales floorspace shall not exceed 1325 sq. m. The proportion of the net sales area to be used for
the sale of comparison goods shall not exceed 20% of the net sales floorspace without the prior
written agreement of the Local Planning Authority.
For the purposes of this condition, the net sales floorspace means the area within the walls of the
shop or store to which the public has access or from which sales are made, including display
areas, fitting rooms, checkouts, the area in front of checkouts, serving counters and the area
behind used by serving staff, areas occupied by retail concessionaires, customer services areas,
and internal lobbies in which goods are displayed; but not including cafes and customer toilets.
Reason
To define the terms of this permission and in order to protect the vitality and viability of existing
centres and to ensure the store retains its status as a deep discount retail food-store.
Condition 27
The development hereby permitted shall only be used as a Class A1 retail foodstore. This shall
be restricted to 'limited product line deep discount retailing’ and shall be used for no other
purpose falling within Class A1 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987.
'Limited product line deep discount retailing' shall be taken to mean the sale of no more than
2,000 individual product lines. No increase in the number of product lines shall be permitted
without the prior express permission of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason
To define the terms of this permission and in order to protect the vitality and viability of existing
centres and to ensure the store retains its status as a deep discount retail food-store.
Note 1

Page 44

The upgrade works to the access require alteration to the existing highway
network and must be undertaken by the Highway Authority or its appointed agents. An
Agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 will be required with
maintenance commuted sum to be confirmed unless secured under separate agreement.
The Local Highway Area office will need to be contacted prior to commencement of work
on the access.
Note 2
The applicant is also advised that it is an offence under section 161 of the Highway Act
1980 to deposit anything on a highway the consequence of which a user of the highway
is injured or endangered. It is strongly recommended that during any form of earthworks
and/or excavations that are carried out as part of the development, suitable vehicle
wheel washing equipment should be provided and used within the site, to prevent
contamination and damage to the adjacent roads.
Note 3
GCC will seek to secure any necessary highways improvements by S278 and/or
agreement for commuted sum and we would encourage early consultation on proposed
mitigations and understanding that legal agreements will need to be supported by a
bond. GCC will not support planning conditions for essential mitigation required as a
result of development.
Note 4
Your attention is drawn to the requirements of the Building Regulations, which must be obtained
as a separate consent to this planning decision. You are advised to contact the Gloucestershire
Building Control Partnership on 01453 754871 for further information.
Note 5
In accordance with the requirements of the NPPF the Local Planning Authority has sought to
determine the application in a positive and proactive manner by offering pre-application advice,
publishing guidance to assist the applicant, and publishing to the council's website relevant
information received during the consideration of the application thus enabling the applicant to be
kept informed as to how the case was proceeding.
Person to Contact: Caroline Townley (396780)

Page 45

Planning Application:

19/00058/FUL

Address:

Plot J Kingsway Gate
Newhaven Road Quedgeley
Gloucester

Committee Date:

© Crown copyright and database rights 2011 Ordnance Survey 10019169
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

Page 46

Assessment of Retail Planning Policy
Proposed Class A1 Foodstore, Plot J, Kingsway,
Gloucester
August 2019

Page 47

Client: Gloucester City Council

Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy

Contents
1.

Introduction .................................................................................................................................................................... 1

2.

Planning Policy Context ............................................................................................................................................... 2

3.

The Sequential Test ........................................................................................................................................................ 4

4.

Impact ........................................................................................................................................................................... 6

5.

Summary and Conclusions ........................................................................................................................................ 12

Appendices
Appendix I

Study Area

Appendix II

Financial Impact Assessment

Page 48
Date: August 2019

Page: 2

Client: Gloucester City Council

Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy

1.

Introduction

1.1

This report has been prepared by Avison Young (‘AY’) for Gloucester City Council (‘GCC’) in relation to a
planning application for the development of a Class A1 foodstore and associated development on land at
Kingsway in the southern part of the Gloucester urban area. The application is submitted by Robert Hitchins
Ltd and proposes the development of a 2,125sq m gross foodstore along with the provision of 140 car
parking spaces, landscaping, servicing and vehicular access arrangements. The foodstore is proposed to be
occupied by Lidl.

1.2

The store will have a net sales area of 1,325sq m, with 80% (1,060sq m) being devoted to the sale of
convenience goods and the remaining 265sq m used for the sale of comparison goods.

1.3

This advice report considers the relationship of the proposed foodstore against salient retail and town centre
policies in the development plan for Gloucester and other material considerations such as the National
Planning Policy Framework (‘NPPF’). As will be set out in Section 2 of this advice report, the application site
lies outside of any defined ‘town centre’ in Gloucester and therefore is required to be assessed against the
sequential test. The scale of the proposed foodstore falls below the national threshold for requiring impact
assessments although the applicant has provided such an assessment and our instructions from GCC are to
undertake a review of this assessment to consider the likely effects on nearby ‘town centres’.

1.4

The focus for our review of the applicant’s case has been two documents. First, a Retail Assessment (‘RA’)
prepared by DPP and dated January 2019. Second, a Supplementary Statement (‘SS’) also prepared by
DPP and dated June 2019 which followed discussions between DPP and AY regarding the content of DPP’s
initial financial impact assessment.

1.5

In addition, our advice will refer to the contents of the Joint Core Strategy Retail Study 2011-2031 Update
published in February 2016 (‘the 2016 JCS Retail Study’) and also the JCS Retail and City / Town Centre
Review which is currently being prepared by AY for the three JCS Councils (Gloucester, Cheltenham and
Tewkesbury).

1.6

The remainder of this report is structured as follows:


Section 2 outlines the salient planning policy context for the proposal insofar as retail land uses are
concerned;



Section 3 provides our assessment of the proposal’s relationship with the sequential test;



In Section 4 we assess the proposed foodstore’s likely effect on the health of, and investment within,
defined ‘town centres’ across Gloucester; and



Finally, in Section 5 we provide a summary of our advice and our conclusions in relation to the
relationship of the proposal to salient retail and town centre policies in the development plan and the
NPPF.

1.7

All plans, statistical information and other documents referred to in the main text of this report are contained

Page 49
Date: August 2019

Page: 1

Client: Gloucester City Council

Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy

2.

Planning Policy Context

2.1

The development plan for the application site comprises the Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Joint
Core Strategy (2017) (‘JCS’) and the 1983 Gloucester Local Plan. The latter plan has only two policies of
relevance and these are not related to retail land use proposals. Therefore, the 1983 plan is not considered
in detail in this section of our advice. In addition to the development plan, the February 2019 version of the
National Planning Policy Framework (‘NPPF’) will be an important material consideration for this application,
providing national planning policy on retail, leisure and main town centre uses.

In addition, the draft

Gloucester City Plan, which is currently in preparation and consulted upon in 2017, will also be a material
consideration albeit one with limited weight at the present time.
2.2

Policy SD2 of the JCS is the most relevant policy insofar as retail and main town centre use proposals are
concerned.

The policy sets out the hierarchy of centres with Gloucester city centre at the top of the

hierarchy along with Cheltenham town centre. The JCS requires an immediate review of the evidence base
for retailing and town centres although pending that review the various boundaries and frontages for
Gloucester city centre are set out on the policies map.
2.3

Policy SD2 notes that proposals for A1 retail development located outside of the primary shopping area, and
for other main town centre uses where they are proposed in locations outside of the City Centre boundary,
will be assessed in accordance with the sequential test and impact test as set out in the National Planning
Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance. It goes on to note that proposals for retail and other
main town centre uses that are not located in a designated centre, and are not in accordance with a
policy in either the JCS or District plans, will be robustly assessed against the requirements of the sequential
test and impact test, as set out in the NPPF and national Planning Practice Guidance, or locally defined
impact assessment thresholds as appropriate.

2.4

The new version of the NPPF, published in February 2019, includes national planning policy on retail and main
town centre uses in Section 7. It closely follows the approach of Section 2 of the 2012 version of the NPPF,
remaining with two retail policy tests for retail land use proposals located outside of ‘town centres’ and not in
accordance with an up to date development plan: the sequential test and the impact test.

2.5

Paragraphs 86 and 87 deal with the sequential test and note:
“86. Local planning authorities should apply a sequential test to planning applications for main town
centre uses which are neither in an existing centre nor in accordance with an up-to-date plan. Main
town centre uses should be located in town centres, then in edge of centre locations; and only if
suitable sites are not available (or expected to become available within a reasonable period) should
out of centre sites be considered.
87. When considering edge of centre and out of centre proposals, preference should be given to
accessible sites which are well connected to the town centre. Applicants and local planning authorities
should demonstrate flexibility on issues such as format and scale, so that opportunities to utilise suitable
town centre or edge of centre sites are fully explored”.

2.6

Paragraph 89 deals with the assessment of impact for retail and leisure proposals and notes:
“When assessing applications for retail and leisure development outside town centres, which are not in
accordance with an up-to-date plan, local planning authorities should require an impact assessment if

Page 50
Date: August 2019

Page: 2

Client: Gloucester City Council

Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy

the development is over a proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold (if there is no locally set
threshold, the default threshold is 2,500m2 of gross floorspace). This should include assessment of:
a) the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and private investment in a
centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal; and
b) the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local consumer choice and
trade in the town centre and the wider retail catchment (as applicable to the scale and nature of the
scheme)”.
2.7

Paragraph 90 provides clear guidance for local authorities where they conclude that either the sequential or
impact tests have been failed:
“Where an application fails to satisfy the sequential test or is likely to have significant adverse impact on
one or more of the considerations in paragraph 89, it should be refused”.

Page 51
Date: August 2019

Page: 3

Client: Gloucester City Council

Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy

3.

The Sequential Test

3.1

Given the location of the application site and the lack of a development plan allocation for the proposed
use, there is a requirement for GCC to consider whether the proposal complies with the sequential test. In
particular, there is a need to consider whether there are any sites or premises in sequentially preferable
locations which can provide suitable and available alternatives to the application site. When considering
alternatives there is a national planning policy requirement to demonstrate flexibility in relation to scale and
format of proposals.

3.2

The applicant’s assessment of the sequential test is contained in the introductory parts of Section 8 of the RA.
The introductory part of the Section 8 outlines the applicant’s approach to the sequential test and notes
that:


the Honiton Road Exeter Secretary of State decision and also the Tesco Dundee and Mansfield Court
judgements are relevant to the application of the sequential test in this instance.



the catchment of the proposed store is 2km from the application site and therefore this should represent
the area of search for alternative sites and premises.



The flexibility employed by the applicant is focused upon the same broad type of development whilst
also being able to perform a similar role and function as the application proposal.

3.3

In relation the assessment of alternatives, we accept the approach adopted by DPP which focuses upon the
application proposal but also considers alternative scales and formats within reasonable boundaries. It is not
referenced by the RA or SS but the recent decision by the Secretary of State in relation to The Mall extension
proposals at Cribbs Causeway are also relevant here. Both the Inspector and the Secretary of State noted
that in order to be suitable, alternatives should be able to accommodate “a broadly similar development
proposal”.

3.4

In relation to the area of search for alternatives, paragraph 8.4 of the RA notes that the catchment of the
proposed store is a 2km radius of the application site. No justification has been provided for this catchment
and we consider that, in order to verify this assumption, reference should be made to data on the
catchment of similar stores in the local area. We have therefore considered the market share data provided
by the household survey commissioned to inform the JCS Retail Study Update and have focused in particular
on the catchment of the ALDI store in Quedgeley which is considered to be a reasonable proxy for the
application proposal. The market share data for this store shows that its primary catchment area for both
main and top-up food shopping is focused upon Zone 5b of the study area (a plan of which is contained in
Appendix 1 to the RA). As a consequence we consider that the selection of Quedgeley district centre,
Kingsway local centre and Hunts Grove local centre to be reasonable for the purposes of this assessment.

3.5

In Quedgeley district centre there are, at the present time, two vacant units in the eastern part of
Quedgeley district centre. These were formally occupied by Brantano and Next. The Next unit has ground
and mezzanine floor areas whilst the former Brantano unit has just ground floor space. The ground floor of
the Next store is 748sq m with a 703sq m mezzanine. The ground floor area of the former Brantano unit is
929sq m. This provides a total existing floor area of circa 2,400sq m with the potential for an additional

Page 52
Date: August 2019

Page: 4

Client: Gloucester City Council

Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy

mezzanine floor area in the former Brantano unit. The RA acknowledges these floor areas and contemplates
what could be achieved if these units were to be amalgamated. DPP indicate that Lidl or other foodstore
operators trade from mezzanine floors in stores of broadly the size proposed, a statement which we would
agree with. On this basis, DPP note that a small amount of the existing mezzanine floor in the former Next
unit could be utilised for some limited ‘back of house’ activities although the sales area and the majority of
storage areas will need to be on the ground floor. This would lead to a store with a sales area which is 14%
smaller than the proposed store which DPP acknowledge could be regarded as meeting the national
planning policy requirement for flexibility.
3.6

DPP do, however, go on to dismiss the vacant units as being unsuitable on the basis that it would provide a
non-standard store which would lead to operational difficulties along with the lack of car parking provision in
the retail park for a foodstore alongside existing operators. The SS goes on to highlight the existing planning
application proposing the change of use of the former Next unit into a gym which, if approved, would lead
to the unit becoming unavailable.

3.7

We will leave the issue of the car parking accumulation to GCC and the County Council’s highways
department although we would agree with DPP that the scale of compromise which would be needed at
the ground floor level is to an extent that would make it an unsuitable alternative. Moreover, approval of
the gym application would make the site unavailable.

3.8

Kingsway local centre accommodates a small selection of shops and services and is surrounded by a
number of vacant plots of land awaiting development.

These have been considered as part of our

assessment of the sequential test in relation to the nearby B&M/gym proposals at Kingsway and we consider
that the same conclusion should apply – i.e. that they do not provide a suitable alternative to the
application site.
3.9

The final centre is the new local centre at Hunts Grove. The centre will be provided as part of a large urban
extension on the southern edge of the Gloucester urban area and is referred to in both the outline planning
permission for this development and Policy SA4 of the adopted Stroud Local Plan. The policy notes that the
centre should meet the day-to-day needs of the local Hunts Grove community as a whole. It is not 100%
clear that Stroud District Council intend the new local centre to be a formal part of the ‘town centre’
hierarchy in the District but we, like DPP, have assumed this to be the case for the purposes of our
assessment. We would agree with DPP that the local centre cannot be considered to provide a suitable
alternative for the proposed store as the centre can only accommodate a foodstore of 1,115sq m gross. This
is around half the size of the proposed store and therefore is not a broadly similar development proposal.

3.10

On the basis of the above analysis, we have reached the conclusion that the proposed foodstore cannot
be accommodated on any sequentially preferable sites in the catchment of the proposal and therefore the
provisions of the development plan and national planning policy insofar as the sequential test are
concerned have been met.

Page 53
Date: August 2019

Page: 5

Client: Gloucester City Council

Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy

4.

Impact

4.1

Proposals for retail development outside of defined ‘town centres’ and not in accordance with a
development plan are required to provide an impact assessment where they are over 2,500sq m gross or a
locally set threshold. In this instance, the proposed foodstore extends to 2,125sq m gross and there is not a
locally set threshold in the development plan for Gloucester. As a consequence, we agree with DPP’s
comment at paragraph 1.3 of the RA that there is no formal policy requirement for the applicant to provide
an impact assessment. However, their assessment in Section 8 is to be welcomed as it allows an examination
of the likely effects of the new foodstore on surrounding defined ‘town centres’.

4.2

Our assessment of the two national impact assessment tests is outlined below.

Impact on town centre vitality and viability
4.3

The focus of DPP’s impact assessment for town centre vitality and viability is an assessment of the financial
effects of providing the new store. In order to fully understand the DPP assessment reference needs to be
made to both the RA and SS documents. The structure and content of the assessment is as follows:


The assessment follows a standard step-by-step approach with the assessment of available retail
expenditure within a defined study area and then applying market shares of existing stores and centres
across the different zones of the study area to this available expenditure in order to estimate current
store turnover levels. The assessment then turns to the trading effects of the proposed store by, firstly,
calculating its likely turnover of the proposed store and then assessing from where this turnover will be
diverted.



The study area used for the impact assessment is the same as the study area used in the 2016 JCS Retail
Study.



Population and per capita retail expenditure in the DPP assessment has been taken from the JCS Retail
Study with the SS updating the retail expenditure forecasts using the latest version of Experian’s Retail
Planner Briefing Note (No.15, published in December 2018).



Market share data for existing stores and centres has been taken from the household survey
commissioned to inform the JCS Retail Study.



Given that there have been a number of new store openings and recent planning permissions granted
since the completion of the JCS Retail Study household survey, DPP have provided a cumulative impact
assessment which has been updated in the SS to take into account the recent approval of planning
permission for a B&M store a short distance to the north of the application site at Kingsway.



The impact assessment has been based on two scenarios, taking into account two different sales
densities for the proposed foodstore.

4.4

In relation to the market share data from the 2016 JCS Retail Study, Section 6 of the RA provides a
commentary on certain aspects of the household survey data. Specifically, DPP question whether the survey
is under-estimating the market share of the ASDA supermarket at Kingsway given that it predicts a turnover
of circa £5m. They also highlight a concern that the singular reference to the ALDI store on Bristol Road leads

Page 54
Date: August 2019

Page: 6

Client: Gloucester City Council

Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy

to a study area derived turnover estimate of £35m and the possibility that the data is in fact referring to two
ALDI stores: the one on Bristol Road in Quedgeley and the one close to Bristol Road near the Peel Centre
and Gloucester Quays (and actually access via Clifton Road).
4.5

DPP also question whether it is correct for the survey to provide separate market share data for Quedgeley
district centre in addition to the ALDI and Tesco Extra stores given that they are the only two stores in the
centre. Finally, DPP note the absence of reference to the Tesco Express store in Kingsway local centre
despite it being open prior to the household survey being conducted.

4.6

Based upon the above observations, DPP make some amendments to the turnover levels of some stores in
Table 8 of their RA financial impact assessment (with the same process being undertaken in Table 9 of the
SS); these being:


Splitting the single ALDI Bristol Road turnover into two parts (Clifton Road and Quedgeley);



Increasing the ASDA Kingsway store turnover to company benchmark turnover levels;



Increasing the turnover of the Lidl stores on Bristol Road and Eastern Avenue due to their enlargement in
recent years; and



4.7

Inclusion of the Tesco Express store in Kingsway local centre.

Clearly these are judgements made by DPP and therefore we have referred to the content of the
quantitative need assessment in the emerging JCS Retail Study Review which provides the following
estimates for these stores:

4.8



ALDI, Clifton Road - £12.1m



ALDI, Bristol Road - £12.5m



ASDA, Kingsway - £7.7m



Lidl, Bristol Road - £11.1m



Lidl, Eastern Avenue - £9.6m



Tesco Express, Kingsway - £1.0m

These turnover levels are not the same as those used by DPP in the RA and SS financial impact assessments
although they generally correct the errors perceived by DPP in the previous household survey. The one store
which does appear to be trading at the low level is the ASDA at Kingsway, at £7.7m, which is higher than the
previous survey/assessment although still well below the company benchmark used by DPP in the
assessments.

4.9

The SS updates the RA by re-calculating the turnover of comparison goods shopping destinations using
updated economic forecasts provided by Experian and also includes the recently permitted B&M store at
Kingsway into the cumulative impact assessment.

Finally, a second impact scenario is introduced which

bases the likely trading effects of the proposed foodstore on the sales density which AY have been using

Page 55
Date: August 2019

Page: 7

Client: Gloucester City Council

Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy

when assessing other proposed Lidl stores across the south of England. All of these updates appear to us to
be reasonable and provide the following forecast levels of trade diversion to the proposed store:
Table 4.1: DPP’s forecast pattern of trade diversion to the proposed foodstore
Store

Scenario A (lower Lidl sales density of

Scenario B (higher Lidl sales density)

£8,571/sq m)
ALDI, Bristol Road

£1.84m

£2.18m

Lidl, Bristol Road

£1.15m

£1.36m

Lidl, Eastern Avenue

£0.69m

£0.82m

Morrisons, Abbeydale

£0.28m

£0.33m

Tesco Extra, Quedgeley

£2.63m

£3.10m

ASDA, Quedgeley

£2.31m

£2.72m

Farmfoods, Quedgeley

£0.05m

£0.05m

Tesco Express, Quedgeley

£0.05m

£0.05m

£0.23m

£0.27m

Other

stores,

Gloucester

and

elsewhere

4.10

In our opinion, DPP’s scenario B is the more appropriate of the two scenarios insofar as the turnover of the
proposed store is concerned as it is based upon the latest available national average sales density for Lidl.

4.11

However, we would perhaps question the prediction by DPP that the proposed Lidl store will divert more
expenditure from the ASDA in Kingsway than the ALDI in Quedgeley. Whilst the ASDA is clearly the largest
nearest supermarket, it has a low market share and the ALDI store is more of a direct competitor for the new
Lidl. In addition, it is not that much further away from the proposed Lidl store at Kingsway.

4.12

In light of this factor, coupled with the availability of more up-to-date survey and turnover information for the
stores listed above, we have undertaken our own assessment using that data and our own views regarding
the pattern of trade draw to the proposed store. Normally, this assessment would also include predictions
regarding the pattern of trade draw to the proposal (which is specifically mentioned in the PPG). However,
given that there is no formal requirement for an impact assessment in this instance, we have followed DPP’s
lead and provided a proportionate assessment.

4.13

Our re-assessment of the pattern of convenience goods expenditure trade diversion to the proposed
foodstore is contained at Appendix II to this report.

The table is structured to contain the following

information:


The convenience goods study area derived turnovers of those foodstores which DPP consider will suffer
some sort of trade loss.



The forecast pattern of trade diversion to commitments, taken from the DPP SS document.



Our own forecast pattern of trade diversion to the proposed new foodstore at the application site. This
pattern of diversion provides a reaction to the DPP analysis by taking into account the market share and
retail offer of competing facilities along with their location.

Page 56
Date: August 2019

Page: 8

Client: Gloucester City Council



Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy

Having considered the pattern of diversion to commitments and the proposed foodstore, Table A at
Appendix II then provides an estimate of the solus and cumulative impacts associated with the
proposed foodstore.

4.14

In relation to our forecast pattern of trade diversion to the proposed foodstore, we agree with DPP that the
three existing stores which will contribute the majority of turnover of the proposed store are the ALDI and
Tesco Extra stores in Quedgeley district centre and the ASDA supermarket at Kingsway. However, what
differs in our analysis is the balance of diversion from each of these three stores. Based upon their location
and retail offer, we agree with DPP that the Tesco Extra store in the district centre will contribute the highest
amount of expenditure diversion and this is higher at 37% of the convenience goods turnover of the
proposed store. However, in contrast to the DPP analysis, we consider that a much higher proportion of
expenditure will be diverted from the ALDI store in Quedgeley. We consider that 32% (or £3.48m) of the
proposed store’s convenience goods turnover will be diverted from ALDI, a forecast which is based upon the
direct competition between the stores and their proximity. As a consequence, the amount of diversion in
our assessment from the ASDA store is lower at 19% of Lidl store turnover. This remains a substantial amount of
diversion primarily based upon the proximity of the two stores although the low market share of the ASDA
(along with the factors above) have led us to conclude that the amount of diversion from ASDA will be lower
than predicted by DPP.

4.15

As a consequence of the above levels of diversion, Table A indicates that some stores, both individually and
cumulatively, will lose a large amount of trade as a consequence of the proposed foodstore at the
application site. The largest individual impact of the proposal will be on the ALDI foodstore in Quedgeley
district centre. We predict that the ALDI will lose around one third (-31%) of its turnover as a consequence of
the proposed store at Kingsway. When considered cumulatively, the impact rises to -37% which is clearly a
substantial loss of trade. According to the 2016 JCS Retail Study, the ALDI store has a convenience goods
sales area of 746sq m and when combined with the latest national average sales density for ALDI this
provides a company average turnover for this store of £8.1m. Based upon the latest survey evidence, the
cumulative effects of proposed and committed retail developments will turn a store which is trading well
above its company average to a store which trades very close to its company average. Based upon this
data, whilst this is a large loss of trade, there is no evidence to suggest that the future viability of the ALDI
store will be threatened.

4.16

There is also predicted to be large loss of trade from the ASDA store at Kingsway (-28%) although this store is
in an out-of-centre location and therefore is not protected by planning policy.

4.17

The other large impact from the proposed store is on the Tesco Extra supermarket in Quedgeley district
centre.

We predict that the Tesco store will lose around 12% of its convenience goods turnover as a

consequence of the proposal, which will increase to 13% when the impact of commitments is taken into
account. The company average turnover of this store is forecast to be £25.3m based upon the latest data
provided by GlobalData and therefore the residual turnover of this store (as indicated by Table A at
Appendix II) will remain above this benchmark level. On the basis of this data, we do not consider that there
are obvious grounds for concern for the future viability of the Tesco store.

Page 57
Date: August 2019

Page: 9

Client: Gloucester City Council

4.18

Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy

The other sources of trade diversion to the proposed foodstore, based upon the DPP analysis and our own
analysis, are from out of centre stores and therefore the only remaining focus for our assessment is on
Quedgeley district centre.

4.19

The SS provided by DPP introduces an updated assessment of the comparison goods turnover of Quedgeley
district centre, which assesses the turnover to be £63.66m at 2018 and rising to £73.35m at 2022. These
estimates are based upon the market share data informing the 2016 JCS Retail Study and updated
comparison goods per capita retail expenditure forecasts provided by DPP. However, the work currently
being undertaken by AY for the JCS Retail Study Update indicates that the comparison goods turnover of
the district centre is £26.6m (at 2019). This is a significant difference and, in our opinion, it is difficult to see
how the centre when fully occupied could achieve a turnover of circa £73m when the retailers at that time
were Tesco, Next, Brantano, Matalan and Boots from a modest amount of floorspace (7,000sq m) which
would suggest a sales density of circa £10,000/sq m. This would appear a very high performance level for a
district centre of this size and the small number of retailers present. Moreover, whilst DPP acknowledge in
their sequential test analysis that the Brantano retail has closed and the Next store has closed more recently
in 2019, this has not been translated into DPP’s impact assessment. As a consequence, DPP impact analysis
does not appear credible in light of the available evidence and recent changes in occupation in the district
centre. That said, the proposed foodstore will, if conditioned appropriately, have only a modest amount of
comparison goods floorspace and is unlikely to have a material effect upon this sector in the district centre
notwithstanding the recent negative changes.

4.20

Moreover, the loss of Brantano and Next will have had a material effect on the health and attractiveness of
Quedgeley district centre over the past year. The Tesco and ALDI stores would appear, based upon the
latest survey data, to still be performing well (the Tesco store in particular) but the retail offer of the centre
has, for the present time, been reduced with the loss of two significant retailers. We acknowledge that the
landlord of the retail park has applied to accommodate a gym in one of the vacant retail units but the
contribution of such a use will depend upon GCC’s analysis of the application.

4.21

As a consequence of the above, the applicant’s analysis does not take account of the latest information
regarding shopping patterns across Gloucester and does not take into account the recent changes in the
land use occupation of Quedgeley district centre.

As a consequence, we do not consider that the

applicant has demonstrated that the proposed foodstore is unlikely to have a significant adverse impact
upon nearby ‘town centres’ particularly Quedgeley district centre. This conclusion has to be balanced
however with the planning policy situation where GCC cannot formally ask the applicant for an impact
assessment for this proposal along with the PPG advice that: “The impact test only applies to proposals
exceeding 2,500 square metres gross of floorspace unless a different locally appropriate threshold is set by
the local planning authority”.

In addition, the main effect of the proposal on the centre is on the

convenience goods sector which is unlikely to experience a significant adverse effect.

Impact on town centre investment
4.22

The other ‘impact’ test is in relation to the impact of a proposal on existing, planned and committed town
centre investment projects. The DPP assessment makes three particular points:


There are no planned investment projects in Quedgeley which could be materially impacted upon by
the proposal;

Page 58
Date: August 2019

Page: 10

Client: Gloucester City Council

Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy



In relation to existing investment, the DPP assessment focuses upon Quedgeley district centre ; and



There is no adverse impact in relation to the delivery of the new local/neighbourhood centre at Hunts
Grove1.

4.23

In relation to planned investment, we agree with DPP that there are no planned or committed investment
projects in Quedgeley district centre or other ‘town centres’ in the southern part of Gloucester which could
be significantly impacted upon by the proposed development. There is a current planning application for a
gym in the vacant floorspace in Quedgeley shopping park but we do not consider the proposed foodstore
will have any material effect on whether the landlord of the shopping park will be able to secure a tenant
for this use.

4.24

In relation to existing investment in Quedgeley district centre, DPP’s assessment focuses upon the potential
closure of existing businesses and concludes that such an outcome is unlikely.

The closure of major

businesses in the centre such as Tesco and ALDI are unlikely and as a consequence their continued
presence will not, in our opinion, have a material effect on existing investment by other businesses in the
centre. Equally, due to their differentiated retail or service offer, there are unlikely to be any direct impacts
on business sentiment from the proposed foodstore.
4.25

Finally, the DPP assessment discusses the potential impact of the proposed foodstore on the delivery of a
new local centre in the Hunts Grove urban extension which is located on the southern edge of the
Gloucester urban area. DPP note that the centre has not been delivered and, if/when delivered will provide
a small foodstore which will concentrate upon a top-up food shopping role for a localised catchment. We
consider that there are a number of factors to consider here. First, the delivery of the centre will be linked to
the delivery of homes at Hunts Grove given that it’s primary purpose is to serve these homes. Until such a
time as there are enough homes at Hunts Grove to make a small foodstore / local centre viable then it is
unlikely to be delivered. The proposed foodstore at Kingsway will not have a direct influence on this factor.
However, secondly, the amount, attractiveness and proximity of competing stores may influence the ability
to provide a foodstore at Hunts Grove. At the present time the stores which are likely to be attractive to
Hunts Grove residents are the ASDA at Kingsway and the Tesco and ALDI stores at Quedgeley.

The

proposed Lidl store will add to this competition and be the closest store for Hunts Grove residents. We hold
the view that the proposed Lidl store will have an influence on the timing of delivery of a foodstore at Hunts
Grove however it should not be reason to resist planning permission for two reasons. First, we consider that
the investment will still take place, just perhaps over the longer time period, and, secondly, the scale of the
proposed Lidl store is under the national default impact assessment threshold.

1 A proposal which lies in the administrative area of Stroud District but which generally has an effect on stores and centres in the
urban area of Gloucester

Page 59
Date: August 2019

Page: 11

Client: Gloucester City Council

5.
5.1

Report Title: Assessment of Retail Planning Policy

Summary and Conclusions
This report has been prepared by Avison Young for Gloucester City Council in relation to a planning
application for the development of a Class A1 foodstore and associated development on land at Kingsway
in the southern part of the Gloucester urban area. The application is submitted by Robert Hitchins Ltd and
proposes the development of a 2,125sq m gross foodstore along with the provision of 140 car parking
spaces, landscaping, servicing and vehicular access arrangements.

The foodstore is proposed to be

occupied by Lidl. The store will have a net sales area of 1,325sq m, with 80% (1,060sq m) being devoted to
the sale of convenience goods and the remaining 265sq m used for the sale of comparison goods.
5.2

This advice report considers the relationship of the proposed foodstore against salient retail and town centre
policies in the development plan for Gloucester and other material considerations such as the National
Planning Policy Framework (‘NPPF’).

Given the location of the application site there is a need for the

proposal to be assessed against the sequential test. The assessment of alternatives has focused upon the
primary catchment area of the proposed store and considered whether there are any suitable and
available alternative sites or premises in sequentially preferable locations. These locations are Quedgeley
district centre, Kingsway local centre and the new local centre at Hunts Grove. Whilst there is available land
and premises in each of these centres none can provide an alternative location to accommodate a
broadly similar proposal to the application proposal. As a consequence, we consider that the proposed
development meets the provisions of Policy SD2 of the JCS and paragraphs 86 and 87 of the NPPF.
5.3

Retail development proposals such as this which lie in out of centre locations may also be subject to an
assessment of their impact on the health of, and investment within, defined ‘town centres’ depending upon
their scale.

In this instance the scale of the proposed foodstore is below the national default impact

assessment threshold and therefore there is no formal requirement for the applicant to provide an impact
assessment. The applicant has nevertheless provided a proportionate assessment which we have reviewed,
with the focus being on Quedgeley district centre. We have found that it has a number of shortcomings but
when the data which has been gathered for the JCS Retail Study Update is used, we do not consider that
the proposed foodstore is likely to have a significant adverse effect upon the convenience goods sector in
Quedgeley district centre (i.e. the ALDI and Tesco stores). It is to be acknowledged that the impact test
should relate to town centres as a whole and the comparison goods sector in Quedgeley has experienced
the loss of two retailers in recent times and experienced a significant drop in turnover. This will have affected
the overall health of the centre although the proposed foodstore is unlikely to materially affect this element
of the centre. As a consequence, we do not consider there are grounds to resist this application on the
basis of its impact on Quedgeley district centre.

Page 60
Date: August 2019

Page: 12

Appendix I
Study Area

Page 61

Key
Post Code District
Post Code Zones

Zone 8

Zone 7

Zone 2
Zone 6

Zone 3b

Zone 1b
Zone 1a

Zone 5d

Zone 1d

1c

Page 62

Zone 3a

Zone 5a
Zone 4
Zone 11

Zone 5c
Zone 5b

Zone 12
Zone 9

Zone 10

Zone 13

Not to Scale

Details on this map are subject to change without notice. While every reasonable care has been taken to
ensure that the information is correct at the time of the publication, the publishers can accept no responsibility
for errors or omissions. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval
system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise
without the prior written permission of the publisher and copyright owners.
Postcode Boundaries © XYZ Maps 2013.
Postcodes © Royal Mail Group 2013.
This map may contain mapping data licensed from Ordnance Survey®
with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office.
© Crown copyright 2013. All rights reserved.
Licence number 100038939.

Drawing name:
Revsion:

Study Area and Survey Zones Plan
Rev A

Drawing number:

C10165.15.900

Project:

Cheltenham Cloucester and Tewkesbury JCS Retail Study 2015

Date:

29.07.15

Appendix II
Financial Impact Assessment

Page 63

GLOUCESTER CITY COUNCIL
PROPOSED CLASS A1 FOODSTORE, KINGSWAY, GLOUCESTER

TABLE A: CONVENIENCE GOODS IMPACT OF THE PROPOSED FOODSTORE
Store
ALDI, Bristol Road
Lidl, Bristol Road
Lidl, Eastern Avenue
Morrisons, Abbeydale
Tesco Extra, Quedgeley
ASDA, Quedgeley
Farmfoods, Quedgeley
Tesco Express, Quedgeley
Other stores, Gloucester and
elsewhere

Pre-Impact
Turnover

Diversion to
Commitments

Residual

Diversion to Proposed
Store (£m)

Residual

Solus Impact

Cumulative
Impact

(£m)
£12.50
£11.10
£9.60
£31.90
£34.70
£7.70
£0.80
£1.00

(£m)
£1.10
£0.90
£1.54
£1.32
£0.44
£0.25
£0.00
£0.00

£11.40
£10.20
£8.06
£30.58
£34.26
£7.45
£0.80
£1.00

£3.48
£0.76
£0.22
£0.11
£4.03
£2.07
£0.05
£0.05

£7.92
£9.44
£7.84
£30.47
£30.23
£5.38
£0.75
£0.95

(%)
-30.5%
-7.5%
-2.7%
-0.4%
-11.8%
-27.7%
-6.8%
-5.4%

(%)
-36.7%
-15.0%
-18.3%
-4.5%
-12.9%
-30.1%
-6.8%
-5.4%

£0.11
£10.88

Page 64

Notes:
Pre-impact turnover levels taken from draft JCS Retail Study Update
Diversion to commitments taken from DPP assessment.
Diversion to proposed store based on Avison Young forecasts taking into account the retail offer and location of competiting stores.

Page 65

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

CITY OF GLOUCESTER
PLANNING COMMITTEE
ON
3 rd September 2019

DELEGATED DECISIONS
1ST – 31st July 2019

Development Services Group Manager,
Herbert Warehouse,The Docks, Gloucester

Page 67

Abbeydale
19/00545/FUL
G3Y
FISHM
11/07/2019
Conversion of garage to habitable accommodation and formation of a pitched
roof over
66 Mandara Grove Gloucester GL4 5XT

Abbeymead
19/00341/FUL
G3Y
FISHM
Conversion of garage and single storey extension to rear
52 Kennett Gardens Gloucester GL4 5TZ
19/00507/FUL
G3Y
Single storey side garage extension
2 Calderdale Gloucester GL4 5SZ

FISHM

18/07/2019

25/07/2019

19/00665/TPO
TPDECS
JJH
31/07/2019
Reduce crown of mature oak (between 24 Cox's Way _ 80 Green Lane) by
30% and crown thin by 10%.
24 Coxs Way Gloucester GL4 5LF
19/00328/FUL
GSC
ELENJ
22/07/2019
Removal of conservatory and erection of single storey extension to the rear of
the property
6 Remus Close Gloucester GL4 5XJ
19/00530/FUL
G3Y
Proposed Ancillary Outbuiling
8 Rendcomb Close Gloucester GL4 5UH

SHANE.

29/07/2019

Barnwood
18/01227/FUL
GP
FISHM
29/07/2019
Variation of Condition 2 of planning permission 18/00566/FUL to allow for the
amendment of facing materials from render to brick (works already carried out).
95 Barnwood Avenue Gloucester GL4 3AG
19/00338/LAW
LAW
Single storey rear extension
17 Trygrove Gloucester GL4 4RP

ELENJ

Page 68

11/07/2019

19/00468/ADV
GFY
RHIAM
Advertisement consent for 4 fascia signs at 7 Eastbrook Road.
7 Eastbrook Road Gloucester GL4 3DB

19/07/2019

19/00540/FUL
G3Y
FISHM
23/07/2019
Single storey rear extension and Garage conversion to form an Annex
32 Chester Road Gloucester GL4 3AY

Barton & Tredworth
18/01435/FUL
G3Y
SHANE.
05/07/2019
New access to first floor flat by external staircase and internal alterations.
Revision to permitted scheme ref 16/00842/FUL.
35 Falkner Street Gloucester GL1 4SG
19/00066/FUL
G3Y
SHANE.
05/07/2019
Renewal of planning permission 16/00042/FUL - erection of detached
bungalow with access from Farm Mews
2 Furlong Road Gloucester GL1 4UT
19/00363/FUL
REF
RHIAM
11/07/2019
Demolition of garage block and erection of a buillding containing three
apartments.
119 Tredworth Road Gloucester GL1 4QU

Elmbridge
19/00543/FUL
GSC
Proposed rear extension to dwelling
25 Liddington Road Gloucester GL2 0HL
19/00483/FUL
GSC
porch to the front of property
8 Waverley Road Gloucester GL2 0SZ
19/00457/FUL
GSC
Proposed 2 Storey side and rear extension
101 Elmbridge Road Gloucester GL2 0PG

Page 69

ELENJ

19/07/2019

ELENJ

10/07/2019

ELENJ

02/07/2019

19/00585/FUL
GSC
ELENJ
23/07/2019
Single storey extension to provide utility/shower room, study and garage
58 Sandyleaze Gloucester GL2 0PX
19/00522/FUL
G3Y
Singe Storey side/rear extension
132 Elmbridge Road Gloucester GL2 0PH

SHANE.

11/07/2019

Grange
19/00510/FUL
G3Y
FISHM
08/07/2019
Single storey rear extension to provide extended kitchen with shower room
13 Sulgrave Close Gloucester GL4 0SE
19/00589/LAW
LAW
Proposed rear conservatory
19 Vincent Avenue Gloucester GL4 0SW

FISHM

30/07/2019

Hucclecote
19/00298/LAW
LAW
FISHM
05/07/2019
Conversion of the loft into a habitable bedroom. including the creation of a a
rear facing dormer.
47 Lynton Road Gloucester GL3 3HX
19/00380/FUL
GSC
Single storey rear and side extension.
45 Zoons Road Gloucester GL3 3NY
19/00282/FUL
GSC
Flat roofed single storey extension
17 Spencer Close Gloucester GL3 3EA

ELENJ

09/07/2019

ELENJ

09/07/2019

19/00587/FUL
GA
RHIAM
18/07/2019
Proposed first floor side extension and construction of a detached double
garage. (Amendment to 18/00679/FUL) removing the set down of the first floor
side extension.
15 Barnacre Drive Gloucester GL3 3DQ

Page 70

19/00458/PDE
ENOBJ
ELENJ
Single storey rear extension d:4.3m H:3m w:5.9m
7 Spencer Close Gloucester GL3 3EA

01/07/2019

Kingsholm & Wotton
19/00627/LAW
LAW
single storey extension to dwelling
14 Hampton Court Gloucester GL1 3ER
19/00233/FUL
GSC
Single storey rear extension
86 Henry Road Gloucester GL1 3DX

ELENJ

30/07/2019

ELENJ

08/07/2019

Longlevens
18/01010/CONDIT
PADIS
RHIAM
19/07/2019
Partial discharge of conditions 43 (land remediation) and 64 (low emission
vehicle charging) of permission ref. 15/01190/OUT (as varied)
University Of Gloucestershire Oxstalls Lane Gloucester GL2 9HW
18/01179/FUL
G3Y
ELENJ
19/07/2019
Single Storey Rear Extension and Second Storey Front Gable Extension
4 Gambier Parry Gardens Gloucester GL2 9RD
19/00517/FUL
GSC
ELENJ
09/07/2019
rear single storey extensions, side extension and porch to the front.
106 Longford Lane Gloucester GL2 9EU
19/00353/LAW
LAW
Small single storey side extension.
103 Estcourt Road Gloucester GL1 3LX

ELENJ

01/07/2019

19/00614/TPO
TPDECS
JJH
08/07/2019
T1 - T4, Silver Birch, Fell. All trees showing signs of basal decay and/or
dieback. To be felled for reasons of safety.
University Of Gloucestershire Oxstalls Lane Gloucester GL2 9HW

Page 71

19/00396/FUL
G3Y
ADAMS
05/07/2019
Landscape works including localised reprofiling of the brook banks and use of
excavated material from the bank to form a new mound and a flood mitigation
bund adjacent to the University building.
University Of Gloucestershire Oxstalls Lane Gloucester GL2 9HW
19/00597/FUL
REF
Loft conversion and dormer to front
12B Park Avenue Gloucester GL2 0DZ

ELENJ

19/00424/FUL
GSC
ELENJ
Extension to side of property and new double garage.
12 Windermere Road Gloucester GL2 0LZ

29/07/2019

08/07/2019

19/00547/FUL
G3Y
SHANE.
16/07/2019
First floor rear extension - resubmission of application 19/00057/FUL
50 Oxstalls Lane Gloucester GL2 9HU
19/00477/FUL
GSC
ELENJ
Double storey side and single storey front and rear extensions
46 Oxstalls Lane Gloucester GL2 9HU
19/00503/FUL
GSC
Single storey rear extension
16 College Fields Gloucester GL2 0AG

05/07/2019

ELENJ

04/07/2019

19/00524/LAW
LAW
ELENJ
The proposal is for a single storey side extesion.

25/07/2019

64 Oxstalls Drive Gloucester GL2 9DE

Matson & Robinswood
17/00565/CONDIT
ALDIS
JOLM
29/07/2019
Discharge of condition nos. 3 (external and surfacing materials), 4 (boundary
treatments) ,8 (levels) ,9 (tree protection measures), 10 (landscaping), 12
(archaeology), 18 (construction method statement), 19 (ecology), 20 (bat and
bird boxes), 21 (external lighting), 22 (ecological method statement), 23
(drainage scheme), 24 (SUDS maintenance plan), 29 (pedestrain crossing
improvements) on planning permission ref; 14/00449/FUL

Page 72

St Aldate Church Finlay Road Gloucester GL4 6TN
19/00705/DCC
NOB
JOLM
08/07/2019
Installation of a new 3m wide vehicular gate to form 'In and Out' system from
existing car park.
Finlay Community School Finlay Road Gloucester GL4 6TR

Moreland
19/00413/FUL
G3Y
FEH
Renovation and extension to Forecourt shop
Hand Car Wash 250 Bristol Road Gloucester GL1 5TA
19/00484/FUL
GSC
Proposed two storey front extension.
65 The Oval Gloucester GL1 5EE

ELENJ

24/07/2019

05/07/2019

19/00379/FUL
GSC
FISHM
11/07/2019
Retrospective application for a timber outbuilding in the rear garden.
32 Bathurst Road Gloucester GL1 4RJ
19/00077/FUL
REF
RHIAM
10/07/2019
Demolition of existing brick garage to the rear of 25 tuffley avenue and
construction of a 3 bedroom detached dwelling with off road parking.
25 Tuffley Avenue Gloucester GL1 5LS
19/00489/LAW
LAW
ELENJ
02/07/2019
Proposal to increase the height of an existing flat roof which will not exceed 4m
high. The proposed work is to give the bathroom an acceptable height.
21 Calton Road Gloucester GL1 5DZ
19/00074/FUL
G3Y
FEH
16/07/2019
Demolition of existing industrial building and warehouse and erection of a
building comprising one, two bedroom apartment and two one bedroom
apartments.
2A Cecil Road Gloucester GL1 5HQ
19/00499/LAW
LAW
Single storey extension to rear of property
17 Bowly Road Gloucester GL1 5NN

Page 73

ELENJ

04/07/2019

19/00527/FUL
GSC
Proposed extension
91 Stroud Road Gloucester GL1 5AH
19/00529/FUL
GSC
Single Storey and Two Storey rear extension
20 Bowly Road Gloucester GL1 5NN

ELENJ

09/07/2019

ELENJ

30/07/2019

Podsmead
19/00573/COU
G3Y
SHANE.
11/07/2019
Change of use from B8 (Electrical Wholsale) to D2 (Cheerleading Academy)
Wilts Wholesale Electrical Unit 2 325 Bristol Road Gloucester GL2 5DN
19/00168/FUL
G3Y
RHIAM
05/07/2019
Proposed increase to external storage heights within building yard and
amendment to customer parking bays, to include 5 additional van spaces.
Travis Perkins Ashville Road Gloucester GL2 5EU
19/00741/DCC
OBS
ADAMS
16/07/2019
Change of use from National Grid operational site to vehicle breaking and
storage place (Sui Generis use). Construction of building for vehicle breaking
and storage. Proposed concrete hardstanding to yard with proprietary steel car
rackings. (FURTHER CONSULTATION FROM COUNTY COUNCIL)
Old Gas Works Bristol Road Gloucester

Quedgeley Fieldcourt
19/00351/FUL
G3Y
FEH
03/07/2019
Variation of condition 2 of permiission 17/01257/FUL for the erection of a
detached dwelling to include resiting and installation of rooflights and obscure
glazed bedroom window

Acacia House Naas Lane Quedgeley Gloucester GL2 2SA
19/00427/FUL
G3Y
RHIAM
Single Storey Extension to Front
21 School Lane Quedgeley Gloucester GL2 4PJ

Page 74

04/07/2019

19/00100/LAW
LAW
Proposed drop kerb. Drive to be tarmacked.
30 Giles Cox Quedgeley Gloucester GL2 4YL

FISHM

19/00334/FUL
G3Y
FISHM
Single storey front and side extensions.
29 Hadow Way Quedgeley Gloucester GL2 4YJ
19/00434/FUL
REF
SHANE.
Side extension at first floor level
14 Fauld Drive Kingsway Quedgeley Gloucester GL2 2HL

29/07/2019

04/07/2019

22/07/2019

Quedgeley Severn Vale
19/00721/LAW
LAW
FISHM
Loft Conversion
114 Merlin Drive Quedgeley Gloucester GL2 4NL
19/00625/FUL
NOB
FISHM
Revised garden store
3 Bentley Close Quedgeley Gloucester GL2 4SH
19/00439/FUL
G3Y
FISHM
Single and two storey extension to rear
47 Highclere Road Quedgeley Gloucester GL2 4HD

30/07/2019

19/07/2019

04/07/2019

Tuffley
19/00474/FUL
REFUSE
Side & Rear Two Storey Extension
138 Tuffley Lane Gloucester GL4 0PB

FISHM

03/07/2019

19/00528/LAW
LAW
FISHM
18/07/2019
Loft conversion including dormer window to the east and north elevation and
inclusion of a rooflight on the south elevation
27 Falfield Road Gloucester GL4 0ND
19/00494/FUL
G3Y
Proposed two storey side extension
1 Windrush Road Gloucester GL4 0JR

Page 75

SHANE.

16/07/2019

Westgate
19/00029/FUL
G3Y
RHIAM
03/07/2019
Proposed glazed extension to existing restaurant.
Greek On The Docks Unit A Merchants Quay The Docks Gloucester GL1 2EW
18/01339/CONDIT
ALDIS
SHANE.
02/07/2019
Discharge of Conditions 5(Community Use Agreement) 8 (Lighting details) and
9 (Bat Survey) of application 18/00524/FUL
Archdeacon Meadow St Oswalds Road Gloucester
19/00289/FUL
G3Y
RHIAM
23/07/2019
Change of use and extension to storage building to create four additional hotel
bedrooms and ancillary storage space
New County Hotel 44 Southgate Street Gloucester GL1 2DR
19/00542/LBC
G3Y
RHIAM
23/07/2019
Listed building application for extension and altertations to existing storage
building to facilitate the change of use of the building to four additional hotel
bedrooms and ancillary storage space.
New County Hotel 44 Southgate Street Gloucester GL1 2DR
19/00580/CONDIT
PADIS
ADAMS
04/07/2019
Partial discharge of Condition 28 (ventilation and cooking fume control
measures) of permission ref. 15/01625/FUL relating to Unit 'R11' of Gloucester
Quays (reserved matters approval 18/00257/REM)
Land At Bakers Quay Llanthony Wharf And Monkmeadow Bounded By
Southgate Street Llanthon St Ann Way Gloucester
19/00719/LAW
LAW
Loft conversion
14 High View Gloucester GL2 5LN

ELENJ

30/07/2019

19/00375/FUL
G3Y
ADAMS
23/07/2019
External alterations to Pillar & Lucy Warehouse to facilitate a new food and
drink unit on the lower ground floor including installation of a hydraulic glazed
platform lift to entrance 03, the provision of new doors to entrance 03, the
reconfiguration of entrance steps to entrance 04, refurbishment of existing
doors to entrance 04, refurbishment and repainting of cast iron columns and
entablature, remedial works to soffit of colonnade and addition of glazed
balustrade to existing staircase on the north elevation.
Pillar And Lucy House Merchants Road Gloucester GL2 5RG
19/00197/FUL

Page 76

REFUSE
FISHM
Double storey rear extension and first floor raised eaves height.
9A Wellington Street Gloucester GL1 1RA

22/07/2019

19/00362/LBC
G3L
ADAMS
23/07/2019
External and internal alterations to Grade 2 listed Pillar & Lucy Warehouse to
facilitate a new food and drink unit on the lower ground floor. The internal
works include installation of 3 no. metal louvres to existing openings on internal
wall of north elevation and installation of 2 no. metal louvres to existing
openings on internal wall of east elevation. The external alterations to the
building include installation of a hydraulic glazed platform lift to entrance 03, the
provision of new doors to entrance 03, the reconfiguration of entrance steps to
entrance 04, refurbishment of existing doors to entrance 04, refurbishment
and repainting of cast iron columns and entablature, remedial works to soffit of
colonnade and addition of glazed balustrade to existing staircase on the north
elevation.
Pillar And Lucy House Merchants Road Gloucester GL2 5RG
19/00607/LBC
GLB
FEH
Replace original roof (retrospective)
5 Newark House Hempsted Lane Gloucester GL2 5JR

Page 77

24/07/2019

DECISION DESCRIPTIONS ABBREVIATIONS
AAPRZ:
ALDIS:
AR:
C3C:
CAC:
ECREF:
ENOBJ:
ENPDEZ:
EOBJ:
G3L:
G3Y:
GA:
GATCMZ:
GFY:
GLB:
GLBGOS:
GOP:
GOSG:
GP:
GSC:
GTY:
GYO:
LAW:
NOB:
NOS96
NPW:
OBJ:
OBS:
PADIS
PER:
RAD:
REF:
REFLBC:
REFREA:
REFUSE:
RET:
ROS96:
RPA:
SCO:
SPLIT:
TCNOB:
TELPRI:
TPDECS:
TPREF:
WDN:

Prior Approval Approved
All Discharged
Approval of reserved matters
Conservation Area Consent for a period of 3 years
Conservation Area Consent
PDE Refused - Commenced
No Objections
PDE Decision – No objections
PDE Decision - Objection
Grant Listed Building Consent for a period of 3 Years
Grant Consent for a period of 3 Years
Grant Approval
Grant approval for telecommunications mast
Grant Consent for a period of Five Years
Grant Listed Building Consent
Grant Listed Building Consent subject to Government Office of South
West clearance
Grant Outline Permission
Government Office of South West Granted
Grant Permission
Grant Subject to Conditions
Grant Consent for a period of Two Years
Grant Consent for a period of One Year
Certificate of Law permitted
No objections
No objection to a Section 96 application
Not proceeded with
Objections to County Council
Observations to County Council
Part Discharged
Permission for demolition
Refuse advert consent
Refuse
Refuse Listed Building Consent
Refuse
Refuse
Returned
Raise objections to a Section 96 application
Refuse Prior Approval
EIA Screening Opinion
Split decision
Tree Conservation Area – No objection
Telecommunications Prior Approval
TPO decision notice
TPO refuse
Withdrawn

Page 78

